# FACTORS INFLUENCING UTILIZATION OF PRIMARY HEALTH CARE FOR CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL IN NEPAL

# -A LITERATURE REVIEW

A thesis submitted for the partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master's in Public Health at Royal Tropical Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

> Bandana Neupane /Nepal 53rd International Course in Health Development, Development Policy and Practice September 19, 2016 - September 7, 2017 Kit (Royal Tropical Institute) Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, Netherlands

#### DECLARATION

#### <u>Factors influencing utilization of primary health care for cardiovascular disease</u> <u>prevention and control in Nepal-a literature review</u>

This thesis is submitted for the partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Masters in Public Health at Royal Tropical Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

**By:** Bandana Neupane Nepal

#### **Declaration:**

Where other people's work has been used (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements.

The thesis "Factors influencing utilization of primary health care for cardiovascular disease prevention and control in Nepal-a literature review" is my own work.

Signature:

Pre

53<sup>rd</sup> International Course in Health Development (ICHD) September 19, 2016 - September 7, 2017

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

#### **Organized by:**

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute), Development Policy & Practice Amsterdam, The Netherlands

#### In co-operation with:

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam/Free University of Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

#### DEDICATION

# To my respected parents Narayan Prasad Sharma and Tulasa Sharma, beloved sisters Bhawana Neupane, Sambriddhi Neupane

&

all my readers

"Special dedication to my Late grandfather who died of Heart Attack"

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

My deepest respect and appreciation goes to my parents; who are not less than a god to me, for rearing, caring, educating, motivating, up-bringing and helping me to reach this stage of my life. I am no one without them.

I am grateful to my sisters for supporting me and being there always, for me in my hard times.

My sincere tribute to all my teachers, supervisors and seniors for valuable guidance.

I am indebted to entire KIT team. Thank you, Prisca (the program director); for managing and providing a wonderful platform for students like us from a developing country to study and thrive.

My heartfelt gratitude to the Netherlands government for offering me scholarships to study here in KIT.

My special appreciation goes to my thesis advisor and back stopper for their time, continuous patience, support, contribution and critical feedbacks to give this shape to my thesis.

I want to humbly acknowledge my colleagues and seniors who proof read the manuscript.

Last but not least, I am very thankful to all my colleagues from different countries; who gave me a sense of family in foreign land and whose support & company was highly precious throughout the year.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATION	i
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ABBREVIATIONS USED	viii
GLOSSARY	X
ABSTRACT	xi
INTRODUCTION	xii
CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND INFORMATION OF NEPAL	1
1.1 Geographic, administrative and demographic characteristics	1
1.2 Socio-cultural, educational and economic characteristics	2
1.3 Major development partners	2
1.4 Health situation	2
1.5 Health care delivery system	3
1.6 History of primary health care in Nepal	5
1.7 Cardiovascular disease and scope of PHC	5
CHAPTER TWO: PROBLEM STATEMENT, JUSTIFICATION, OBJECTIVES AND METHODOLOGY	6
2.1 Problem statement and justification	6
2.2 Research questions	7
2.3 Objectives	8
2.3.1 General objective	8
2.3.2 Specific objectives	8
2.4 Methodology	8
2.4.1 Study method	8
2.4.2 Search strategy and Key words	8
2.4.3 Search strategy flow chart	9
2.4.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	9
2.4.5 Methodological limitations	9
2.4.6 Conceptual framework	10
CHAPTER THREE: FINDINGS ON SUPPLY SIDE FACTORS	12
3.1 Health System Factors	12

3.1.1 Policies	12
3.1.2 Resources	13
3.1.3 Organization	17
3.2 External environmental factors	17
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS ON DEMAND SIDE FACTORS	19
4.1 Predisposing factors	19
4.1.1 Demographic factors	19
4.1.2 Social Factors	20
4.1.3 Health beliefs	21
4.2 Enabling factors	22
4.3 Need factors	23
CHAPTER FIVE: FINDINGS ON EVIDENCE BASED BEST PRACTICES IN LMICS	25
5.1 Evidence based best practices targeted on supply side factors	25
5.2 Evidence based best practices targeted on demand side factors	28
CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION	29
6.1 Supply side factors	29
6.2 Demand side factors	31
6.3 Limitations of literatures	33
6.4 Reflection on conceptual framework	33
CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	34
7.1 Conclusion	34
7.2 Recommendation	34
APPENDICES	36
References	36
Miscellaneous	44
Figure no. 6: Original Conceptual Framework of Anderson, 1995	44
Table no. 6: The search terms and websites used in searching literatures for the study	.45
Table no. 7: Evidence based best practices in LMICs /HICs/summary table:	47

# LIST OF TABLES

No.	Heading	Page No.
Table no. 1	Trends on major indicators of Nepal over 60 years	3
Table no. 2	Search strategy flow chart	9
Table no. 3	List of basic medicines required for essential CVD interventions in PHC according to WHO protocol	14
Table no. 4	Basic instruments and tools that should be available in PHC according to WHO protocol	14
Table no. 5	Availability of tests and procedures in PHC in a survey conducted by WHO in 2015	15
Table no. 6	The search terms and websites used in searching literatures for the study	45
Table no. 7	Evidence based best practices in LMICs/HICs summary table	48

# LIST OF FIGURES

No.	Heading	Page No.
Figure no. 1	Map of Nepal	1
Figure no. 2	Population distribution of Nepal in the year 2000 and the estimated increase of ageing population by 2025/World Bank	2
Figure no. 3	Department of Health Services Organogram, updated version	4
Figure no. 4	Proportionate mortality of CVD among all communicable and non- communicable diseases/WHO-Nepal,2014	6
Figure no. 5	Conceptual framework; the adapted version of Anderson ,1995	11
Figure no. 6	Original conceptual framework of Anderson, 1995	44

# **ABBREVIATIONS USED**

Abbreviation	Full Form	Abbreviation	Full Form
CBS	Central Bureau of Statistics	NCDs	Non-Communicable Diseases
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	NHIECC	National Health Information Education Communication Center
CDIs	Community Directed Interventions	NHRC	National Health Research Council
СНЖ	Community Health Worker	NHTC	National Health Training Center
DALY	Disability Adjusted Life Years	NPC	National Planning Commission
DFID	Department for International Development	OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
DFTQC	Department of Food Technology and Quality Control	OPD	Out-Patient Department
DHS DoHS	Demographic Health Survey Department of Health Services	PEN	PackageforEssentialNoncommunicableDiseasesInterventions
EBBP	Evidence Based Best Practices	PHC PHCC	Primary Health Care (Approach) Primary Health Care Center (Facility)
EDPS	External Development Partners	PHCRD	Primary Health Care Revitalization Division
FCHVs	Female Community Health Volunteers	PIQIP/PINNACLE	P-India Quality Improvement Program/ Practice, Innovation and Clinical Excellence
FCTC	Framework Convention for Tobacco Control	RCT	Randomized Control Trials
GDP	Gross Domestic Product	SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
GNI	Gross National Income	SEAR	South East Asian Region
HEARTS	Health Promotion, Evidence Based Practice, Access to Essential Medicines, Risk Assessment, Team Based Care & Supervision	SHI	Social Health Insurance
HICs	High-Income Countries	Sim-Card Trial	Simplified-Cardiovascular Trial
HIV	Human Immuno-Virus	SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
KIT	Koninklijk Instituut voor de tropen	ТВ	Tuberculosis
LMICs	Low and Middle -Income Countries	UN	United Nations

MDG	Millennium Development	UNFPA	United Nations Fund for
	Goals		Population Activities
MeSH	Medical Subject Headings	UNICEF	United Nations International
			Children's Emergency Fund
MICS	Multiple Indicator Cluster	VU	Vrije University
	Survey		
MOHP	Ministry of Health &	WHO	World Health Organization
	Population		

# GLOSSARY

S. N	Terms	Glossary
1.	Primary Health Care	"Primary health care is essential health care based on practical, scientifically sound and socially acceptable methods and technology made universally accessible to individuals and families in the community through their full participation and at a cost that the community and country can afford to maintain at every stage of their development in the spirit of self-reliance and self- determination" (Alma Ata 1978).
2.	Utilization	"The outcome of the interaction between health professionals and patients" (Donabedian 1973).
3.	Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)	"Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels" (WHO 2017). "Heart attacks and strokes are two acute events caused by cessation of blood to heart or brain. Most common risk factors are: unhealthy diet, tobacco use, physical inactivity and harmful use of alcohol" (WHO 2017).
6.	WHO – "Best Buys"	"Set of affordable, feasible and cost-effective intervention strategies for NCDs" (WHO 2011).
7.	Prevention	<ul> <li>Primary prevention - "People with risk factors who have not yet developed clinically manifest cardiovascular disease" (WHO 2007).</li> <li>Secondary prevention - "People with established CHD, CeVD or peripheral vascular disease" (WHO 2007).</li> <li>Tertiary prevention – "Measures aimed at providing appropriate supportive and rehabilitative services to minimize morbidity and maximize quality of life after a long-term disease or injury is present" (MeSH 2009)/PubMed.</li> </ul>

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** The uptake of cardiovascular services through PHC is essential to achieve national target of 25% reduction of CVD by the year 2020 & SDGs target of reducing NCDs related premature deaths by one-third by 2030. However, most LMICs including Nepal, are facing growing burden of CVD but factors influencing utilization of PHC for CVD are unexplored in Nepal. Thus, this study was to explore and analyze those factors that increase uptake in order to give recommendation to MOHP and other important stakeholders.

**Methodology:** Literatures from Nepal and LMICs through various sources like PubMed, Google Scholar were reviewed and analyzed with the help of Anderson, 1995-conceptual framework.

**Findings:** Study found lack of CVD guideline, absence of NCD department, gaps in multisectoral action plan, scarcity of essential medicines, inadequate skilled human resources, freezing of budget, lack of data registries, low health literacy, perceived low quality of services & insufficient research as major factors that may influence uptake of PHC for cardiovascular services in Nepal.

**Conclusions/Recommendations**: Despite having good policies & programs, there are gaps in its implementation. This study recommends the following: Establishment of a separate operational NCD department, make evidence based CVD guideline, review multi-sectoral action plan, timely implement programs & prevent freezing of budget, increase research on prevention of CVD, maintain data registries, increase health promotion, community engagement & out-reach care, shift the task & train human resources & lastly, increase multi-sectoral collaboration.

Keywords: Utilization, primary health care, cardiovascular disease, prevention/control, Nepal.

Word count: 13,085

Bandana Neupane

<u>Nepal</u>

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Globally, almost 70% of entire deaths are caused by non-communicable diseases (NCDs) each year (1). World Health Organization has mentioned cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, chronic respiratory disease, certain cancers and mental health as most common NCDs (2). Unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, use of tobacco and harmful use of alcohol are the prime risk factors (1). Cardiovascular disease; mainly heart attacks and strokes are killing people worldwide more than any other cause, as high as about 80% of all deaths and almost three-quarters of this mortality is taking place in low and middle-income countries (3).

In Nepal, it is estimated that NCDs are responsible for 60% of total deaths and 22% of premature mortality (4,5). Within 2010 to 2014, Department of Health Services, has reported an increase of NCD deaths from 51% to 60% of all deaths (6). In 2016, 83% of all deaths were caused by NCDs (6). CVD alone shares one quarter of national mortality (7). Along with it, communicable diseases are equally persisting and in such scenario, the country is facing "double-disease" burden and extra pressure on its existing health system (8). Furthermore, the disease is expected to increase and the condition may further worsen as studies predict the rise of figure by 35% by 2030 (7,8). The impact of this situation on socio-economic aspects of the population in the country is high and even disproportionate among poor and marginalized clusters within the country (7,9).

This has highlighted the importance of accessible, affordable, comprehensive and sustainable care for such chronic diseases in Nepal. Hence, the concept of primary health care (Alma-Ata 1978) has now re-emerged after nearly 40 years of its initiation (10,11). Primary health care (PHC) is important in preventing these avoidable deaths and also achieving universal health coverage (12). There is increasing evidence that, morbidity and mortality due to CVD can be reduced if people utilize services at the primary healthcare centers and health post (13). In order to achieve sustainable development goals (SDGs) target 3.4 of reducing premature deaths due to NCDs by one-third in Nepal, there is the need to increase efforts on preventing CVD through the approach of PHC (4,10,14). Positively, in line with this need, the integration of NCDs has already been started (6). However, exploring existing evidences in Nepal and other low-income countries on factors that influence use of services by people in PHC is equally important in order to increase uptake of such services provided through integration in PHC (15,16).

Besides, the motivation and zeal that have been developed within me from my years-long professional experiences in clinical and public health sector, can be an added advantage on articulation and understanding of the subject matter. Therefore, with knowledge, exposure, interest and current need; I selected this topic in thesis for partial fulfillment of Masters in Public Health in Royal Tropical Institute, Netherlands. The dissertation comprises of 7 major headings; namely: Chapter 1- Country's Background, Chapter 2- Problem Statement, Justification, Objectives and Methodology, Chapter 3 & 4- Findings (on objectives 1&2), Chapter 5- Findings on Evidence Based Best Practices, Chapter 6- Discussion, Chapter 7- Conclusion and Recommendation and lastly, Appendices.

#### CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND INFORMATION OF NEPAL

#### 1.1 Geographic, administrative and demographic characteristics

Nepal is a small, mountainous and a land locked country situated in South-Asia with an area of 147,181 square kilometers. It is surrounded by China to its north and India to its east, west and south. There are three different ecological regions, namely Himalayan in the north, Hilly in the central and Terai with flat land in the south as shown in figure no. 1 below. Natural disasters like landslides, floods and earthquakes are common in the country due to land topography, making life more difficult at times. Recent earthquake in 2015 has taken life of many people. Large number of survivors are now homeless, suffering from chronic stress, mental illness and disability(6). Transportation & and communication facilities are limited and often face challenges due to these disasters. Road networks are poor and motor vehicle accidents are even more common in rainy seasons (6).



Figure no.1: Map of Nepal Source: (17)

Nepal suffered 10-long years of internal conflict between Maoist and government forces. Later, newly formed constitutional assembly declared it as a Federal Democratic Republic by abolishing the monarchy. The President is the head of the state and the Prime Minister is the administrative head (6). The country is divided into 5 administrative development regions; Eastern, Central, Western, Mid-western and Far western regions. The proposed 7 administrative states in upcoming Federal changes in the country is yet to be implemented. Kathmandu is the capital city which lies in Central region.

Population has increased more than twice in last 4 decades and recently estimated figure is around 28,851,000 (18). Only 17% people live in urban cities while rest live in rural areas (19).

The following figure shows population distribution of Nepal in the year 2000 and the World Bank's estimate of increasing number of ageing population by the year 2025.





#### 1.2 Socio-cultural, educational and economic characteristics

Nepal is a country with diversity. People from several castes and 125 ethnic groups who speak 92 languages live here. Nepali is the official national language. Majority of the people follow Hindu religion (84%) while others are Buddhists, Muslims and Christians. About 76% of the people are farmers. The rest are engaged in service, business and animal husbandry. Literacy rate is 65%. Education is free up to the secondary school in public schools. Government has given emphasis on reservation seats and priority programs for women and children on education, scholarships and vocational training (6,19).

Nepal is a low-income country with a GDP of 21 billion US\$ and GNI per capita of 730US\$ (18). It has an average annual GDP growth of 2.7% (18). About 25.2% of population live below poverty line (21). Health care expenditure is 5.3 % of GDP and out of pocket expenditure is 47.7% of Total Health Expenditure (22). Nearly 50% health budget rely on International Aid (23). Pilot studies on implementation of Social Health Insurance are ongoing (6). Nepal is rich in timber, copper, jute, tobacco, natural herbs, agricultural products, and water. Many tourists visit the country each year due to its scenic beauty. The country has considerable scope to grow from its high yielding hydropower and tourism sector (21).

#### 1.3 Major development partners

According to recent report of Department of Health Services, UNICEF, DFID, German Development Cooperation, World Bank and UNFPA were the major development partners providing financial support in the year 2015/2016 to the country (6).

#### **1.4 Health situation**

Over the years, Nepal has made significant progress in health sector. Ranging from extension of PHC services to engagement of private sectors and from production of human resources to manufacture of drugs; various responsible bodies have been operational. Nepal is now capable of producing 40% of drugs that are required for the country. Similarly, there are increasing number of diagnostic services, laboratories and specialized care centers established within the

country. Infectious diseases like Malaria, HIV, Tuberculosis are under control. Filariasis control is underway. Leprosy and Maternal-Neonatal Tetanus are in state of elimination. Most of the mortality indicators have been improved significantly (6). Table no. 1 below, shows the trend recorded on major indicators over the past 60 years in health sector.

INDICATOR	1950	1991	2011	SOURCE		
Infant mortality Rate (per	200	107	46	DHS, 2011		
thousand live births)						
Maternal mortality rate (per	1800	850	170	MDG, Progress report, 2011		
100000 live births)						
Average life expectancy (year)	32	53	68.8	Nepal Human Development Index		
				report, 2014		
Under 5 children mortality (per	280	197	54	DHS, 2011		
thousand)						
Total fertility rate	7	5.8	2.6	DHS, 2011		
Fully immunized children (%)	70	88/87	88.0	UNICEF, Multiple Indicator		
-	DHS	DHS	DHS	Cluster Survey (MICS)		
				2014 – Dropped to 82.4		

Table no.	1:	Trends	on n	major	indicator	s of	<sup>r</sup> Nepal	over	past	60 years
Source: (6	5)									

Nepal often face issues regarding access to quality drugs and diagnostic services. Non-Communicable diseases are rising. Road accidents and traumas due to poor roads, old vehicles and other transportation related problems are increasing. NCDs and adolescents' reproductive health are the major areas that are lagging behind in terms of priority in PHC. Quality Human Resources production, distribution, absorption and retention have been a major issue. Private sectors including medical colleges are mostly concentrated only in urban cities. There are challenges on effective regulation of health care market. Priorities are needed to strengthen the surveillance system for emerging diseases, outbreaks and natural disasters (6).

#### **1.5 Health care delivery system**

Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP) undertakes the major responsibility to carry out and control all health-related programs, projects and activities in Nepal. MOHP collaborates with other line ministries, external development partners (EDPs) and various stakeholders to achieve its programs. MOHP also makes policies, plans activities, arranges budgets, implements programs, coordinates, supervises, monitors and evaluates activities. Department of health services (DoHS) is the biggest department under MOHP which carries out all the health care related services throughout the country with the help of health care delivery system(6,24,25). Further detail of DoHS is provided in the figure no.3 below.

Figure no. 3: Department of Health Services Organogram, updated version Source: (6)



#### Indices:

[National Tuberculosis Center (NTC), Primary Health Care Revitalization Division (PHCRD) National Health Training Center (NHTC), Management Division (MD), National Public Health Laboratory (NPHL), Child Health Division (CHD), Vector-borne Disease Training and Research Center (VBDRTC), Family Health Division (FHD), National Health Education Information and Communication Center (NHEICC), National Center for AIDS and STD Control (NCASC), Logistic Management Division (LMD), Female Community Health Volunteers (FCHVs), Leprosy Control Division (LCD), Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI), Epidemiology and Disease Control Division (EDCD), Primary Health Care Centers (PHCC)].

#### **1.6 History of primary health care in Nepal**

Nepal signed Alma-Ata declaration in 1978 with a motto of "Health for all by 2000" (10). The major principles highlighted in the declaration are: Universal access and coverage of essential services and technologies, intersectoral co-ordination, health promotion, prevention and community participation (10).

Primary Health Care Revitalization Division (PHCRD) under Department of Health Services, is the responsible unit to run PHC programs. Currently, this division is looking after four program components of PHC. They are: National Free Health Services, Social Health Protection, Urban and Environmental Health and Non-Communicable Diseases.

For the management of NCDs, Nepal has implemented three tier referral system (7).

- Super specialty centers -3<sup>rd</sup> tier
- ▶ District and Zonal hospital -2<sup>nd</sup> tier
- > PHCC and Health Posts -1<sup>st</sup> tier

Health Post (HP) is the first facility level contact. It focuses more on preventive and promotive services. It also conducts PHC out-reach clinics and immunization programs with the help of Axillary Nurse Midwife (ANM) and Female Community Health Volunteers (FCHVs) (6). FCHVs help linking people in the community to health facility in need. FCHVs also conduct home visits, organize health prevention and promotional activities, perform basic recommended national programs like distribution of drugs, nutritional activities and some curative services for newborn (26).

Primary health care centers (PHCC) are the facilities above health posts. The cases are referred from Health Posts to PHCC and are seen by general practitioner. In need of border diagnostic screening and curative services, PHCC refers cases to district level hospitals. More sophisticated curative services are available as the chain goes up and more preventive services as it goes down. Prevention is the "cornerstone" of PHC (6,11).

#### 1.7 Cardiovascular disease and scope of PHC

One fourth of all national deaths are due to CVD in Nepal. The leading two causes mentioned were heart attacks and strokes which are modifiable (7). Scope of PHC for CVD prevention and control ranges from preventing occurrence of these diseases through risk stratification and screening as primary prevention, preventing person with history of CVD from recurrence as secondary prevention and managing timely referral to higher level in acute manifestations in order to prevent complications as tertiary prevention (3).

# CHAPTER TWO: PROBLEM STATEMENT, JUSTIFICATION, OBJECTIVES AND METHODOLOGY

#### 2.1 Problem statement and justification

Over the past two decades, CVD (especially heart attacks and strokes), has been the leading cause of mortality in Nepal and is responsible for one-fourth of all national deaths (3,7). It is accountable for the biggest share of chronically ill and disabled people (DALY increased by 20% in last 20 years) resulting in heavy economic and social burden to the country (20,27). Furthermore, (although it is relative) it is projected that, the current figure of proportionate mortality (22.4% as shown in figure no. 4) for CVD will rise as high as 35% by 2030 (7). Increasing unhealthy diet, inadequate physical activities, increasing prevalence of smoking and harmful use of alcohol are the four prime risk factors (7). These are modifiable and hence, can be prevented (2,28).

The risk of CVD increases with age (29). Increasing ageing population also contributes to the rise in CVD cases in Nepal (30). The country is in early phase of demographic transition (8). The World Bank has projected that 5.8% of total population will be over 65 years in 2025 (20). This gives the estimate on frequency of disease in near future.

Figure no. 4: Proportionate mortality of CVD among all communicable & noncommunicable diseases



CVD comes with huge financial and social costs and have impact on country's growth and development (31). Estimated cost of outpatient treatment of CVD per person in Nepal is 134.38\$ per year and specialist care is much higher which can be a catastrophic expenditure for most Nepalese, where 25.2% population are living under poverty line (32). CVD clients with low socio-economic status; often sell their land and properties in order to access health

care. This goes in a cycle (such as hunger, school drop-outs of their children and loss of job or income) and thereby; leads to impoverishment, degradation of health status and other social consequences. It further contributes to the inequalities already existed between rich and the poor in such communities (33).

The prevention and control of chronic disease like CVD requires frequent follow-up care; (some even last throughout life) (34). The success of it depends on patient-centered care, which is community based, responsive and sustainable (34). Providing such services in PHC addresses these aspects and, eventually, can cover large group of people in an equitable manner (3). In long run, better health outcomes can be achieved in less expensive way (3). Such cost effective and integrated approach helped in reducing burden of chronic diseases in many low and middle income countries; which is also believed to be successful in Nepal (35).

Thus, government has given priority to PHC in its current policy (7). It has also shown the national commitment to the global target 3.4 (reducing premature mortality due to NCDs by one-third by 2030) and 3.8 (achieving universal health coverage through the pathway of PHC) of sustainable development goals (4,6,10). Access and utilization of services by the population in PHC are essential components to achieve this commitment (36). Use of services by people depends on system side and demand side variables (37).

Hence, identifying supply side factors which include health system factors and elements outside health system that can influence health system to function properly is very essential to know whether the existing system is addressing supply side need. Similarly, recognizing demand side factors that influence people's individual needs, their perceived and real needs and enabling elements that help them to use health services, aid in proper planning of resources and services according to the demand side need (38). Gaps in either corner of supply or demand side affect the system and hence, those gaps should be addressed well with the help of evidenced based interventions in order to run programs smoothly and scale up the services. The same concept is true to primary health care system (10,38,39).

Given the existing disease burden in Nepal, it has been crucial to review national capacity and policy response to CVD in PHC and examine factors that influence utilization of PHC for CVD prevention and control in order to improve the situation (40–42). In addition, choosing this topic is also a response to the need mentioned and guided by, the recent study done in Nepal, on uptake of NCD services from the health care providers perspective (43). Hence, this study will contribute to an understanding of present context on both demand and supply side variables and supports planners to update national policy mandate. Results will also contribute to the limited present insight on utilization of services for CVD in Nepal and enrich the existing knowledge among stakeholders, which directly helps this integration process.

#### 2.2 Research questions

This study aims to answer the following four research questions:

- 1. How are supply side factors (health system factors and elements outside health system) influencing population to use PHC for CVD prevention and control in Nepal?
- 2. How are demand side factors (people's individual characteristics, their need, social context and enabling determinants) interplaying with each other to influence people to use PHC for CVD prevention and control in Nepal?

- 3. What are the best practices undertaken in other low and middle-income countries (LMICs) to enhance utilization of PHC in their countries for CVD prevention and control?
- 4. What recommendation can be given to MOHP and other stakeholders based on findings?

#### 2.3 Objectives

#### 2.3.1 General objective

The objective of the study is to explore the factors influencing utilization of primary health care for CVD prevention and control in Nepal, in order to make recommendation to Ministry of Health and Population and all other important stakeholders based on findings.

#### 2.3.2 Specific objectives

- To identify and analyze supply side factors (health system factors and elements outside health system) that influence utilization of PHC for CVD prevention and control in Nepal
- To examine and analyze demand side factors (predisposing factors, perceived and real needs of people and enabling factors) that influence utilization of PHC for CVD prevention and control in Nepal
- > To review evidence based best practices that are undertaken by LMICs to enhance utilization of PHC for CVD prevention and control
- > To make appropriate recommendations based on findings to MOHP, Nepal and all other important stakeholders

#### 2.4 Methodology

#### 2.4.1 Study method

The study was a literature review based on published articles and gray literatures. PubMed, VU library and Google Scholar were used to find published articles, while gray literatures (conferences papers, reports, policy documents) were assessed through google and websites of various institutions (MOHP, UN, WHO, FAO, World Bank, NPC, NHRC, DoHS and CBS). Literature review was carried out in 5 steps, by: a) Identifying the research question b) Searching relevant studies c) Selecting studies among them d) Charting of data and e) Assembling, summarizing, and reporting findings.

#### 2.4.2 Search strategy and Key words

Literatures for the study were searched from various sources indicated above by using keywords. Details on keywords, that were used for the study is shown in table no. 6 in annex.

Keywords were used in dual or in multiple combinations of the different subjects from 1 to 12 as mentioned in the table with connectives 'OR' or 'AND' or asterisk '\*' for e.g. prevent\*, cardio\*, etc. (that covers possible words like preventable, preventive, prevention, cardiac, cardiovascular, etc.) to get the desired articles. Title and abstract [Ti/Ab], Title [Ti], [All fields] and [MeSH] terms (in PubMed) were searched. Some examples of search combination are shown in the same table that is attached in annex. More details are available on request.

### 2.4.3 Search strategy flow chart

The process of selection of articles is shown below.



#### 2.4.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Published articles relevant to the subject from January 2007 to July 2017 were used in the study. The literatures that contain keywords either in the title or in the abstract were included in the study. Only the articles from Nepal and other LMICs (for evidence based best practices) were included in the study. They had to be published in English or Nepali. Clinical studies and articles with only abstract were excluded.

#### 2.4.5 Methodological limitations

The specific studies related to CVD and PHC were very limited in Nepal. Most of the guidelines and policy documents address CVD through overall NCDs package. So, data and information were extracted from these documents in the context of CVD. This study was a quick review, done in limited time frame. The findings only facilitate further research. This has limitation on generalization. Only the public PHC facilities are discussed in the study.

#### 2.4.6 Conceptual framework

Various conceptual frameworks related to health service utilization and social determinants of health were reviewed. Socio-ecological model used by CDC for health promotion and primary prevention, Health belief model by Sheeran-1996 with demographic and psychological variables, Peter-2008 model for access barriers, Anderson and Newman model and Anderson model for service utilization, it's multiple iterations (1970, 1983, 1990, 1995 and 2005) were studied. Most recent model is the 6<sup>th</sup> iteration and applied in the studies of United States health care system.

Anderson-1995, framework was found to be most suitable for this study (38). It includes both demand side factors and supply side variables interconnected with each other that influence utilization of health services which is in line with study objectives. However, few modifications were done. Last part of the model and personal health practices in health behavior section were removed. It was out of the scope of this study. This activity is clearly supported by the theoretical details given by Anderson (38). From literatures, it was found that family history is very important aspect in cardiovascular study and so it is added. This is also supported by upcoming 7th iteration of this model. The generic version of this model is attached in annex. The modified model used in the study is shown below in the figure no. 5.

Use of services by people depends on wider environmental dimension of both health and outside health system variables like resources, policies, organization, political environment, physical environment and wider economic context (38). Similarly, predisposing factors of people like age, education, gender, socio-economic status, family history etc., enabling factors like accessibility, affordability, availability of services, acceptability and accommodation; all play the role. Lastly, the need factors which include both perceived need of the client and the evaluated need are important aspects that influence peoples' health behavior. These predisposing factors, enabling factors and need factors are called population characteristics by the model (38). Ultimately, model describes utilization as "health behavior" of people which is the core interest of this study. Figure no. 5 shows the conceptual framework used in this study:





# CHAPTER THREE: FINDINGS ON SUPPLY SIDE FACTORS

This chapter examined the first objective with the help of conceptual framework used in this study. Health system factors (policies, resources, organization) and elements outside health system (external environment) are presented below.

#### **3.1 Health System Factors**

#### 3.1.1 Policies

Major policy concerns related to CVD are mentioned below.

#### National Health Policy – 2014

Nepal has a new National Health Policy-2014, which is focused on strengthening PHC and decentralizing health sector in order to increase access among general population. Policy has a plan to increase access to healthcare by adding facilities at a maximum distance of 30 minutes from village all over Nepal (44).

Basic essential health services (emergency and inpatient services) are free up to the district hospitals for target groups (poor, helpless people, senior citizen, disabled people and FCHVs) and free to all citizens at the health post (44). Policy has supported certain chronic disease curative services through chronic disease support program which includes CVD (6). Among estimated total population, government reported 73.40% of people used free health OPD services last year (6).

However, literature mentioned inequity in access of such services. In a study, very few (8.4%) of people among marginalized groups who seek care, got free services. Such services are often poorly monitored and misused by staffs resulting in unavailability to target groups (45). People should go through a lot of administrative procedures and validation before getting free service which has further decreased utilization (43).

#### Multi-Sectoral Action Plan (MSAP) for NCD (2014-2020)

CVD was not high in the agenda before. CVD received attention in Nepal after endorsement of MSAP in 2013 (7). The plan came with aim to reduce the burden of NCDs through prevention and control. It has addressed prevention and control of major risk factors of NCDs including CVD in-line with WHO-"Best Buys" (7).

But, the targeted time frame and some programs in MSAP are not corresponding to each other (7). For e.g. Helping people who are interested to stop smoking is targeted for 2020, while BCC message from NHEICC/focal point started at 2015 (7). The program implementation of MSAP looks slow and it lacks focus on vulnerable groups like adolescents (7,46). Most of the indicators were set without a baseline data; which has implications on progress monitoring (7).

The action plan has following initiatives on CVD prevention and control:

#### Policies on tobacco control

Nepal has ratified Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) and implemented Tobacco Products Act 2011. Smoking was banned in public places since 1992 (7). More than 90% (in Nepal) display of anti-tobacco message on tobacco packaging and banned advertising, sponsorship and promotion is in place (47). To add, Nepal is the first country in implementing "Health Tax" in South East Asian Region (SEAR) (48).

However, tax collection is poor (4). Increase in "tobacco-product tax" is not steady each year. Nepal has no uniform tax on different tobacco brands (e.g. like in Vietnam, Mexico) and budget available for "MPOWER" (monitor, protect, offer, warn, enforce and raise) implementation is stated as insufficient (48)(49). Nepal lacks trained teachers/physicians and cessation centers to help people quit smoking (48).

#### Policies on reduction of harmful use of alcohol

Advertisement of alcohol in radio and television was banned from 1999. Later in 2001, new provisions were made on alcohol sale, distribution and consumption (7). Awareness programs, media messages, prohibition on drink-driving, breath testing by traffic police, cessation of driving licenses upon violation of drink-driving rules, taxation of alcoholic products and restriction on uncontrolled alcoholic behavior in the community is actively under practice (7,50). In addition, recently in February 2017, government proposed new National Policy on alcohol regulation and control (51). Also, some targets in MSAP like enforcement are set for 2020, but Nepal has implemented many activities related to it already (7).

#### Policies on increasing healthy diet and physical activity

Department of Food Technology and Quality Control (DFTQC) is in place. Nepal has regulation related to sale of animal products and pesticides (7). However, there is no any national operational guideline on increasing healthy diet and physical activity (52). Only few activities were done related to food marketing for children, salt consumption by population and reduction of trans-fat/saturated fatty acid (43,52). For instance, India and China has already started activities on decreasing salt consumption but Nepal hasn't (52).

#### 3.1.2 Resources

Resources that are needed to run cardiovascular services in PHC according to WHO are: essential medicines, basic technologies and tools, test and treatment procedures, quantity and quality of human resources and finance as presented below (3).

#### Essential medicines

Government has been supplying list of basic essential drugs, free of cost in health post, PHC centers and district hospitals (6). In 2016, in response to growing NCDs burden, it has decided to add NCD related drugs in the list of 70 free essential drugs for PHC. Drugs according to WHO core list are also in national list of essential medicines as available drugs since 2009 (3,53). Please refer to table no. 3 for the core list.

*Source:* (3)

Table no. 3: Core list of basic medicines required for essential CVD interventions in PHC according to WHO protocol

Thiazide diuretic, Calcium channel blocker (Amlodipine), Beta-blocker, ACE inhibitor, Statin, Insulin, Metformin, Glibenclamide, Isosorbide dinitrate, Glyceryl trinitrate, Furosemide, Spironolactone, Aspirin, Paracetamol, Ibuprofen, Morphine, Epinephrine, Heparin, Diazepam, Dextrose Infusion, Glucose Injectable Solution, Sodium Chloride Infusion and Oxygen

However, study shows poor management, low availability of these drugs in health post and PHC centers (6). WHO capacity assessment of Nepalese PHC in 2015 and 2013 also reported that there was critical deficit of essential CVD drugs. Even some important drugs (Aspirin, Statins, CC blockers, ACE inhibitors) that were present in 2013 were reported as not available in 2015, showing the deteriorating situation (54).

Inequity in supply of drugs, frequent stock outs, lack of good recording and reporting system, issues on sustainability, lack of monitoring and supervision, lack of trained health workers in rational use of drugs and problems on quality of drugs were mentioned as challenges (55,56). Due to these problems in drugs, addition of NCD drugs is also facing debates on sustainability and effectiveness in patient care (55).

#### Basic technologies and tools

The following basic instruments and tools should be available in PHC for essential CVD interventions:

*Source:* (3).

Table no. 4: List of basic instruments and tools that should be available in PHC according to WHO protocol

*Basic instruments:* Thermometer, Stethoscope, Blood pressure measurement device, Measurement tape, Weighing machine, Glucometer, Blood glucose test strips, Urine protein test strips & Urine ketones test strips

*Tools:* Risk prediction chart, evidence based clinical protocols, flow chart with referral criteria, patient clinical record, medical information register and audit tools

These instruments were available in majority of PHC (57). But, there were no any evidence based clinical protocol and tools for CVD intervention in PHC in Nepal (58,59).

Large number of Nepalese, seem to prefer use of technology in treatment nowadays (60). New simple technologies like Electronic diagnostic algorithms (e-algo); that was once studied on clients with chronic disease in Nepal, also often rely on values of blood pressure, blood glucose,

blood cholesterol etc. primarily. Availability of above mentioned basic technologies and tools also affect promotion of such modern technologies in treatment and may affect utilization (60).

#### Tests and treatment procedures

Regarding tests, most of them were available in PHC. However, CVD risk stratification to identify high risk clients in PHC was not available in more than 50% of PHC facilities. Similarly, there was no any provision of community based palliative care for chronic CVD.

Study mentioned, lack of free screening activities for CVD in PHC resulting in low utilization (43). A qualitative study done on health providers mentioned that:

#### ["There is no well-equipped laboratory in rural settings". "Patients are also scared of cost of lab test- this may start from 300NRS to even exceed 4000NRS" (43)]

The table no. 5 below shows the availability of CVD tests and procedures in Nepalese PHC.

*Source:* (61)

Table no. 5: Availability of CVD related tests and treatment procedures in PHC in a sidone by WHO in 2015						
Availability of diabetes testing (Blood glucose, OGTT)	Yes					
Urine albumin test	Yes					
Measurement of total cholesterol	Yes					
Availability of CVD risk stratification in 50% or more PHC facilities	No					
Management at higher level system						
General availability of coronary bypass (stenting) in public health system	Yes					
General availability of thrombolytic therapy in public health system	No					
Care of acute stroke and rehabilitation in 50% of public facilities	No					
Palliative care in public health care system						
Availability of palliative care in community or home-based care	No					
Availability of palliative care in PHC facility	Yes					
Existence of evidence based CVD guideline for management of CVD through	No					
approach of PHC						

#### Quantity and quality of human resources

World Health Organization has identified Nepal as one of the 57 countries with serious deficit of human resources for health (62). Although, most of the human resources needed for the country are now produced within the country, maldistribution and retention has been the problem (63). Nepal has doctor to population ratio of 0.37/1,000 people (as low as 0.008 in rural district and 1.5/1,000 people in Kathmandu; the capital) (64). In total, it is 0.29 /1000 population among all health care providers (65).

#### [This is very less than recommended requirement of WHO of 2.3/1000 population (65)]

Around two-third staffs are working in urban areas, mostly in Kathmandu valley. This situation made peripheral PHC facilities run out of staffs (36,62). The use of cardiovascular services in PHC is also affected due to existing human resource challenges.

There is low motivation among health workers to retain in rural PHC. Situation improved after medical students' exposure to peripheral PHC during study period (66) (67). To solve the rural scarcity, Nepal started bonding on government sponsored medical students to work in rural areas for at least 2 years (68).

Moreover, out of total public health facilities, 73% facilities provide cardiovascular services. But, only around 5% health care providers had received training for cardiovascular services within 24 months prior to health facility survey in 2015 (57).

Study shows the poor patient-centered communication, inadequate knowledge, skills and capacity of PHC providers in chronic care and clinicians may not follow uniform CVD management guidelines (15,69,70). Community often perceive teaching hospitals as training hospitals which has, reduced trust among providers (71).

With all these, a study indicates that, female community health workers in Nepal have limited understanding on management of CVD but are very motivated to be involved in its management at PHC, if they are provided with basic training and skills (72).

#### Financial resources

PHC in Nepal is suffering from improper financial management (15). It is said that, for effective investment of health budget, the total health expenditure should be divided into different headings like prevention, promotion, cure and rehabilitation programs (73). But, such distinct separation of budget on different CVD activities is lacking (59).

However, according to annual reports 2014, 2015 and 2016, the recorded trends on total percentage of health sector budget were 5.89%, 5.42% and 5% respectively in 3 consecutive years (6,25,74). Only 23.70 % was allocated for PHC revitalization division, 2.15% for National Health Training Center and 1.47% for National Health Information, Education and Communication Center, out of total budget last year. To add,

#### [In the year-2016, NHTC and NHIECC spent only 86% and 56% of their district budget respectively (6)]

The funding sources for CVD are General Government Revenues, International Donors and Earmarked taxes (from alcohol, tobacco) (20). But, the exact contribution from each of these sources were not available. The earmarked tax is collected under "Health Tax Fund" (20). As fiscal interventions, government is imposing 30% tax on alcohol and tobacco but tax on high-salt foods is not yet started in Nepal. Subsidies for healthy foods and incentives on promoting healthy behavior like physical activity do not exist until today (59). Evidence shows no any low-income country has implemented subsidies on healthy food and intervention on saturated fat (1).

Like many chronic diseases, CVD and its treatment can impoverish people. For this, health insurance often protects people from such spending and increases people's access to health services (6). Many countries have started social health insurance policy (SHI), community health insurance schemes (CHI), as a part of social protection. Such schemes are meant to protect people from catastrophic expenditures. For e.g. Philippines, Thailand, Ghana, Vietnam & Rwanda (75). But, Nepal is not yet there. The SHI is just piloted (6).

#### 3.1.3 Organization

Organizational aspects like accountability, coordination and management are the important areas that can have direct effect on available services and thus influencing people on whether or not to use those services. These are presented below:

As for accountability, Curative Services Division under Ministry of Health and Population, is undertaking the main responsibility for issues related to NCDs in Nepal although multiple sectors are responsible for its management. Under it, Primary Health Care Revitalization Division (PHCRD) of Department of Health Services (DoHS) is working for CVD management through Non-Communicable Diseases component; one in four components (76). The responsibility of non-communicable disease has been given to PHCRD division (74). However,

#### [There is no separate operational department in MOHP for NCDs (77)]

Oversee mechanism with a steering committee is in place for NCDs (7). For the surveillance, periodic risk factor surveys in every 5 years is recommended by WHO. However, steps survey was done in 2003, 2005, 2007 and 2013 which shows, it is not periodical. Sustained surveillance system for non-communicable diseases is yet to be established in Nepal (59). Vital/civil registration system has not been reliable and systematic for mortality by cause data (78). Also,

# [Nepal doesn't have any evidence based national protocol for management of CVD through PHC approach (59)]

Package of essential non-communicable diseases (PEN) pilot programs are running in two districts; namely Kailali and Illam (6). In 2016, WHO has published "**HEARTS -Technical package for CVD management in PHC**", with some additional components; which is focused on PHC that makes it more specific than PEN package (3,79). This guideline is targeted for low-resource settings like that of PEN package but it is yet to be introduced in Nepal.

No gatekeeping system exists until today resulting in over utilization of tertiary care centers and underutilization of primary care facilities (6). Formal referral forms and financial help for transportation during referral is available but lack of evidence based national protocol on CVD management and referral has affected quality care and timely access to services (80,81).

Community participation in supervision and monitoring activities of PHC is increasingly getting recognition in places where vertical inspection is not periodic but it is lacking in Nepal (15). Supervision and reporting on health promotional activities are even rare. As mentioned that,

#### [Health promotional activities that were carried out in a PHC suffered irregular and inconsistent supervision, reflecting a lack in strong leadership and community engagement (69)]

Inadequate research studies in CVDs have created dearth of evidences particular to the country and its context, which have influenced national plans and its implementation (7). Very few studies were found on CVD in relation to PHC in Nepal.

#### **3.2 External environmental factors**

Given the scenario of Nepal's geographical situation in the background section; supply of essential drugs, other necessary equipment, tools and retention of health workers have been

difficult to most of the rural PHC (42). Clients are facing problems in moving from one place to another while seeking care. Referral to district hospitals and PHC centers from health post and the community is even harder in rainy seasons when natural disasters like floods and landslides frequently blocks the already fragile roads (82). Only 41% of Mountain region, 56% of Hilly region and 70% of Terai region facilities have readiness for emergency transportation for clients (57). Physical infrastructures of many PHC facilities are poor and are even more destroyed due to devastating earthquake in 2015 (83).

Global economic prospects statistics stated, an estimated drop of GDP growth rate of Nepal from 6.0% in 2014 to 0.6% in 2016 due to devastating earthquake in 2015 (84). The trends on health sector budget from 2014 to 2016, shows the drop of health sector budget as shown previously in financial resources section (6,24,74). Also, in 2016, much of the donor money went to earthquake response resulting in lack of sufficient fund for CVD programs (6). Reporting, reimbursement of fund from donors, program approval and disbursement of "donor-non-release" fund due to different formats of bookkeeping of EDPs and inadequate manpower with financial skills influenced economic activities (6).

Factors related to politics and governance has influenced CVD services in PHC (7,15,85,86). Elements like: irresponsive system with its low accountability, poor domestic growth, improper resource allocation, imprudent management of donor money/aid and transparency in Nepal have affected healthcare and created hindrances on people's access to health services (85,86). On top of that, absence of effective leadership for the community due to frequent shift of local elections, has affected PHC development in Nepal (15).

# CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS ON DEMAND SIDE FACTORS

This chapter presents the findings on the second objective. It covers predisposing factors, enabling factors and need factors.

#### **4.1 Predisposing factors**

#### 4.1.1 Demographic factors

This section examined role of sex, marital status and family history of clients.

#### Age

Different age groups of people need different types of CVD services (87,88). The need of curative health services rises as people grow older due to disease condition (29). However, young and middle-aged people need more preventive, and screening services for CVD in order to prevent them from developing disease and detect timely the risk factors (89).

Older people in Nepal were using more curative services because of their disease condition but most of them go for private facilities (90,91). Although having peripheral hospitals nearby, most of them travel to central cities for CVD services (92). Studies have reported perceived low quality, lack of trust, unavailability of services and ignorance as major reasons for not using public PHC services (90,93). Use of traditional healer's services was also common among older age groups (94). Relatively, older people have less income in Nepal and they believe that traditional healers are cheaper (90). Details on attitude and belief of people is presented in health belief section.

Similarly, young and middle-aged people less often used PHC for prevention, promotion and screening of CVD. Lack of awareness, unavailability of screening and counselling facilities, perceived stigma towards harmful habits, low perceived need, risk-taking attitude of young people, lack of time and short opening hours were major drivers behind low uptake in this age group (40,95–97).

#### Sex

Males suffer more from CVD than females in Nepal (28). In general, it is seen that, males use more consultation services (i.e. 89%) than females (123). However, no any evidences were found on being born as a male or a female as such, and having association between uptake of PHC for CVD in Nepal and LMICs; except some explanation on hypertension during pregnancy due to changes in biology of a woman and use of services (98).

#### Marital status

A study done on CVD patients mentioned that, use of PHC became easier after they got married. The financial support from partner helped them to access health care (87). However, no more evidences were found in this matter during the search. The more extended search may find some articles.

#### Family history

Perceived severity of disease is found high among those who have family history (38,87,99,100). Its genetic transferability increases perception of severity of disease. Once people are aware that behavior modification helps to decrease progression of disease, it motivates them to adopt healthy lifestyle (87,101).

#### 4.1.2 Social Factors

Social factors cover socio-economic status of clients, education level, community participation, social networks, gender, culture and stigma.

#### Socio-economic status and level of education

Low socio-economic status, education level of clients and access to health services are usually interlinked (38). Low level of education and low-socioeconomic status have negatively influenced uptake of CVD services in PHC. More than 50% people who present late than the date of appointment in the health facility, or who missed follow up care were illiterate and poor clients (Baseline: Nepal constitutes 65% literate people and 25.2% people live under poverty line) (19,21,80).

Example available from alcohol users (risk factor of CVD) mentioned; people with high socioeconomic class are utilizing professional alcohol counselling service more in the community. Seeking advice and enrolling in such treatment facility were high among educated and high-income users (95). Study also shows that illiterate (46.3%) and low-income people (76.3%) are increasingly the alcohol drinkers (47.8%) in Nepal (102). Other CVD related services other than counselling, may have similar findings; but this result should be taken with caution.

#### Community participation and social networks

Access to health care has been influenced by the participation of community people in healthrelated activities in Nepal (13). Involving community members in planning and decisionmaking process has increased utilization of PHC in other services like maternal health, family planning and newborn care in Nepal (103).

Now, the current global agenda of integration of chronic care with maternal and other services in PHC gives a common ground for comprehensive management of different diseases together which is also applicable to community participation for CVD (7,104). A study done on NCDs in Nepal mentioned, importance of involving teachers & local leaders for health promotion (43).

Also, the social support and networks have positively influenced the use of services by people in the country (95,105–107). The social networks help people in financial arrangement, emotional support & emergency transportation when needed. It motivates people to seek treatment and change unhealthy behaviors (smoking, drinking, eating unhealthy foods) which can increase access and utilization of health services (108,109).

Such support has been weaker recently, affecting people's health and access to healthcare (106). Family structures have been changed recently from joint family to nuclear ones and from nuclear to living at their own. This has changed family cohesion and social support system making people isolated (106). People are more likely to seek health services when they are living with family in comparison to the situation where they live alone. This is also true in chronic care like CVD among older citizens and prevention / screening / rehabilitation services among younger and middle age groups (95,106,107). In this sense, social support and family networks are influencers in utilization of PHC for CVD in Nepal.

#### Gender, culture (beliefs, norms, taboos and practices) and stigma

Different gender roles as assigned by the societies, existing cultural practices and stigma are found to be the influencers in use of CVD services in PHC in Nepal. This has been shown by the number of evidences mentioned below.

Nepal being a country with patriarchal society, males are given preferences to utilize services in PHC (110,111). In fact, males are utilizing health services (89.4%) more, as previously said. Females, seek services late in health care facility due to their gender roles and responsibilities in households. Rearing and caring children, cooking, cleaning including professional work outside makes them busy and unable to seek care timely (105,107).

Also, some families restrict females to seek health services in facility in order to prevent them from exposure to male health care providers which is an example of gender discrimination in utilization of health services (86,105,107,111–113). Participation of females in professional alcohol rehabilitative service is quite low. Despite of having high remarkable number of female drinkers (7.1% out of total drinkers i.e.17.4%), who are willing to be involved in such programs, there is lack of formal channel to involve both males and females in such services in public primary health sectors (95).

Communities at large, implement home remedies for CVDs like drinking juice of "Bitter Gourd", "Aloe Vera", escaping meals in the evening and taking "Cold Showers" for lowering blood pressure (70,72,114). These have strong cultural component to it. Obese children are often considered "sign of wealth" and as "healthy children" in different cultures in Nepal. Such socio-cultural beliefs have influenced uptake of health promotion activities in Nepalese society (72,115). Some families are accultured in drinking alcohol (risk factor of CVD) as a part of their tradition. So, seeking professional alcohol service for counselling and participating in health promotional activities by such groups of people in PHC is highly unlikely unless specifically targeted to them (95).

The existence of stigma influences access to health care for CVD prevention and control (116). In the detoxification and rehabilitation services, stigma among female service users has influenced their participation. The study reported their negligible involvement instead of having increasing number of female drinkers and smokers (95). Social stigma has also affected teens in use of health services. Even though teens are willing to be involved in health promotional activities, society often treats them in a judgmental way that makes them hesitant to go for it (95).

#### 4.1.3 Health beliefs

Health beliefs talk about health literacy, attitude and values of client towards health services and health care providers.

#### Health literacy

Knowledge among clients about the available services in the health facilities, their understanding of the diseases and its complications, awareness programs in the community, effective communication between service providers and the clients, are all health literacy parameters that influence clients to either use or not to use services in PHC in Nepal (64).

Those people who have knowledge and are aware of importance of healthy diet, exercise, regular blood pressure screening, weight control, harmful effects of smoking and alcohol in CVD are more likely to be health conscious and adopt preventive measures to avoid the disease

(117). Also, those who are already on medications are more likely to adhere to treatment regimen if provided with adequate knowledge (16,87,118).

Health literacy has a potential role on NCDs in the country (43). Improving health literacy has benefits not only on clients at their individual level but also towards their wider social context and has positive implications on service utilization and health outcomes of people (64). Number of other literatures have identified similar role of health literacy with regard to chronic disease like CVD (14,70,72,87,119).

#### Attitudes and values

Client's attitude towards curative services are more emergent in nature and people perceive it as a threat/ a real need (87,101). Such different attitudes towards type of CVD services influence people to use PHC differently in Nepal. Use of curative services for CVD are higher in PHC than that of preventive services like screening and counselling (6).

Study found that people were having less trust towards allopathic medicine and so they were using services from traditional healers (120). They believed services in PHC are costly in comparison to services offered by traditional healers. Also, many people seek services in private facilities even though they are far from them than government PHC with a preexisting thought that services in public health facilities are poor (94).

#### **4.2 Enabling factors**

Although having services from the supply side, there can be certain barriers from demand side that influence people's access to use of CVD services. Availability, accessibility, affordability, acceptability and accommodation factors are reviewed here.

#### Availability

The availability of CVD related services in PHC is an important factor that influence PHC in Nepal. Talking about services in general, evidence mentioned that, one hospital serves 168,000 clients, one hospital bed is entitled to 4,000 clients in rural area, one physician for 92,000 clients and one health post is serving every 24,000 rural clients. This shows the shortage of human resources in Nepal, especially in rural areas (35).

Due to lack of drugs, none of the 118 participants received free anti-hypertensive drugs from PHC (70). Lack of availability of proper information and advice from health care providers on follow -up visit, eventually decreased follow up and increased irregularities on utilization of CVD services (70,110). Another reason for low use of government primary health services by people was unavailability of staffs (19%) in PHC centers (110). Availability of rehabilitation centers is also very limited in peripheral primary health facilities as explained by clients which has influenced service utilization (95).

Availability of healthy fruits and vegetables, low salt in instant foods, enough parks and clean open places to jog and exercise (usually in cities), bicycling lanes, regularity of screening services and out-reach clinics and youth friendly counselling services for youngsters to quit alcohol and smoking are rare (14,121–124).

#### Accessibility

Access and utilization of PHC for quality services were affected by distance. The clients from village with health facility within 2 km, exhibited higher utilization of PHC i.e. 48% in contrast to the other village outside 2 km, where only 21% of clients utilized PHC (125). About 22% of

the clients in the study did not use government PHC due to inaccessible distance and negligible patients went for follow-up in PHC centers due to distance (110).

# Affordability

A study in Kathmandu reported no participants mentioning cost of medicine and follow up services as a financial barrier for treatment of hypertension in PHC (70). However, another study, 7% of clients in the study mentioned that money affected access to health care (110). Three studies mentioned financial barrier among clients as a major factor for low utilization of health care (94,114,126). Clients presented late in facility due to financial constraints. It affected transportation arrangement, management of medications and admission procedures resulting in 14% mortality among those clients who need referral services (80).

People don't go for follow up visit for NCDs due to lack of money (43). Although few services and drugs are free, even the transportation and other medicine costs are unaffordable; making people not to use medication at all and use self-medication at home. Not a surprise that,

### [Some even use expired prescriptions from previous PHC visits- that were done long ago and buy drugs without consultation from locally reachable drug sellers (43)]

#### Acceptability

Perceived good quality of services, community engagement in CVD services, patient-centered communication, existence of feedback mechanism is likely to be positive influencers that increase acceptability of service and promote utilization of PHC (15,69,70,127).

There are no any formal channels that look after client's feedback and complaints. Instead, clients often express dissatisfaction verbally to staffs and it ends there only. Clients being unaware of the entitlement of services and absence of proper feedback mechanism with systematic complaints record system, were major identified reasons to this broken linkage between health system and the community; thereby resulting in low quality of care (40).

Also, perceived quality influences acceptability of services among clients, which finally, determines utilization of PHC. In a study, client's perception towards care provided to them by nurses were positive. This has increased acceptability of nursing service among clients in those hospitals (127).

#### Accommodation

Long waiting time in the facility makes clients reluctant to continue follow-up visit which is an essential component of chronic non-communicable disease management (70). Short opening hours of health facilities, limited number of staffs and their frequent absence have demotivated clients to use PHC (Gurung et al.2016).

#### 4.3 Need factors

There are two types of need that influence service utilization. They are perceived need and evaluated need as mentioned below.

#### Perceived need (Need of health services viewed by clients)

Client's perceived need for seeking CVD services arises from their perceived severity of illness caused by the disease (38). Having seen someone in family who has/had disease or having had

the disease by themselves can influence perception of people towards illness and services. Once they have someone in the family who has disease, other members will be aware of disease and are more likely to follow lifestyle advices (128). Usually, perceived need for preventive services are lower than that of curative services for CVD in Nepal (87).

A study done on clients who are hypertensive, showed that out of 118 participants, only 2 of them visited PHC to seek advice (70). As CVD in early stages seems usually asymptomatic, clients often present in late stage with severe symptoms (3,43). Presence of severe symptoms increases their perceived severity and so, utilization of services is high (101).

# **Evaluated need** (Need of health services to clients based on assessment and judgement of health professionals)

According to Anderson 1995, standard guidelines and protocols on the subject, govern the judgement of health care providers for the need of certain health services to the clients after assessment. People utilize health services when there is evaluated need after assessed by health professionals (38).

But CVD prevention and control has to do with both high-risk approach (secondary and tertiary prevention: after the occurrence of disease) and blanket approach (primary prevention like: lifestyle modification/physical exercise, healthy diet, etc.) where all the people whether healthy or sick have the need to use services either preventive or curative (129).

However, utilization of PHC for CVD services is seen high among those clients in Nepal who have already developed CVD symptoms and need higher level of care than others (87). No evidences were found in regard to concept of evaluated need in preventive CVD services.

#### CHAPTER FIVE: FINDINGS ON EVIDENCE BASED BEST PRACTICES IN LMICS

There were enough evidences in high income countries (HICs) like Australia, Canada and UK on best practices to increase utilization of PHC for CVD services. There were examples for monetary incentives for health providers for health promotion services, phone reminders, multiple screening, after hour service etc. (shown in table no. 7: annex). But very few evidence based best practices were found for uptake of PHC for CVD in LMICs. Those that were found are presented here.

#### 5.1 Evidence based best practices targeted on supply side factors

#### 5.1.1 Human Resources

#### a. Task shifting (In response to problem of retention and maldistribution)

Task shifting has been tried successfully in other programs like HIV, TB & Maternal Health in many developing countries like Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), Nepal (130–132). The increasing burden of CVD in developing countries have created an extra demand of health workforce to tackle it. Many countries lack adequate human resources(133). Considering the already existing shortage, LMICs have tried shifting some clinical work of doctors to non-physician clinicians (NPC) like nurses, community health volunteers and other paramedics (134–136). Now it has been taken as a feasible as well as a cost-effective option (137). Even with less specialization; given certain trainings, NPC can carry out responsibilities effectively (138). The health promotion activities for CVD, counselling, screening, communication and self-care, handling follow-up visits; can be done effectively by NPC (135). In Ethiopia, NPC were given some training beforehand, and kept under constant supervision of higher staffs. The difficult cases were solved by consulting with senior staff in the facility (139).

An RCT done in China and Nigeria for task shifting on CVD suggest it as a strategy that LMICs have to implement without delay to address emerging CVD epidemic (135,140). Cluster -RCT was done in China and Nigeria for 12 months. Result was decrease in systolic BP among patients in two intervention sites: site A (P<0.0001) and site B (p<0.0002) than among patients in control group.

#### Remarks

This study had some limitations. The health care providers had received training in taking BP in control site and patient in intervention side knew about healthy diet before trial thereby; adding possibility of overreporting. However, this study was done in large scale, in LMICs by WHO. Result was significant. Many socio-demographic characteristics of Chinese match with Nepalese. So, could be a feasible option to Nepal. But, NPC should be under supervision and their work load should be monitored.

#### b. Training (In response to problem of production and skill)

Many health care workers lack skills to manage CVD in PHC (138). For that, giving training to them is a good option. Evidence from Africa shows, NCDs training can also be given as a refresher course to those staff who have recently graduated so that they can handle such cases efficiently (138,141). Countries have incorporated re-training into their interventions like in

Cameroon (141). As said, training should be a continuous process; also known as "Train and Retrain". Such ongoing training makes every new staff trained on NCDs management by the time they come to work and makes them capable of delivering services at their start even though the staff turnover rate is high (138).

As an evidence, there are successful examples on Nurse-led PHC for non-communicable diseases in resource-poor settings (141,142). The example from Cameroon, where nurses were trained in NCD management in PHC handled the cases well as shown by coverage. The intervention was effective and uptake of PHC was high (142).

### Remarks

This example from LMICs (Cameroon) where access was increased to 68.5%; can be piloted in Nepal. Nepal has the similar scenario in human resource and adding responsibility to health workers (e.g. nurses) by giving special training was already successful in maternal health programs in Nepal.

# c) Use of technology in task shifting

Although medical field should not solely rely on technology, some form of simplified technology can assist community health workers in effective screening of high risk cases (143). Evidence shows improved quality of care in India and China, when involved community health workers by giving them assisted technology in cardiovascular care in PHC. This study, also called "SIM-Card Trial" i.e. "Simplified Cardiovascular" management shows, the feasibility of using non-physician workers in low resource settings with the help of simple technology (144).

Here, the community health workers were provided with mobile application on smartphones, for simple cardiac support and decision making which increased service uptake and improved health outcomes (144). A cluster-RCT was done for one year in 47 villages. High risk cases for CVD were study participants. CHW used mobile-app in intervention group and result showed 25.5% (p<0.001) net rise in reporting on use of anti-HTN medication in comparison to control group and also, BP dropped by 2.7 mm of Hg (p=0.04) showing possibility to task-shift with simple technology (144).

#### Remarks

Although looks like a feasible option, may not be easy to use in Nepal, as many FCHVs are of the age over 50 with only basic education and not so friendly with use of mobile applications. In addition, mobile networks in rural areas are poor.

# 5.1.2 Essential medicines

# a) Supervision visits for drugs

Randomized control trial (RCT) was done in Zimbabwe, for supervision visit twice in 3 months period. Stock management and adherence to standard treatment guidelines were supervised in two different groups. Before the study, staffs were trained on stock management and adherence to standard treatment guidelines for each of the two groups respectively. The third (control) group didn't receive any supervision. Results in 12 months duration show significant improvement in multiple indicators of stock management and availability of medications in

first-stock management group(145). This shows training and supervision on stock management improves the availability of drugs and other stock management indicators.

### b) Community directed interventions (CDIs)

Study conducted in two-years' time in two groups in seven sites of research [ from Cameroon, Uganda and Nigeria] mentioned increased coverage of patients and availability of drugs in intervention group after the introduction of community directed interventions (CDIs). The similar result was shown by the study in Tanzania (146). In this program, members of the community, health facilities and partner organizations have a participatory meeting for making decisions on matters related to supply of drugs, its accountability, oversee mechanisms, monitoring, reporting and feedback to make drugs available to health facilities (145,147).

#### Remarks

This is an example from general essential drug management. "**It is not specific to CVD drugs**". This search couldn't find any intervention studies done on CVD drug management in PHC in LMICs. May be more broad keywords can find literatures on it. Could not say much about this example on using it in CVD management in Nepal.

#### 5.1.3 Monitoring and maintaining data registries

Monitoring and data management go hand in hand. In a PHC, UNRWA/ Jordan, quarterly cohort monitoring was done based on reports and cumulative case findings of hypertensive clients for a year. The report mentioned total of 4,130 patients were registered in the system. Out of which, 76% were retained. Nearly a quarter, (21%) did not attend facility and the remaining either died or lost to follow up. Study highlighted the findings of low performance of health workers in measurement of blood pressure. It equally showed that, as high as 8 to 15% hypertensive patients were diagnosed as having heart disease and stroke. This monitoring also facilitated in finding new advanced cases. It helped in proper planning and management of diseases, future need of trainings for health workers and estimating resources like: drugs, tests and equipment (148). Hence, effective monitoring can check many aspects and improves services in PHC which has implication on utilization.

Maintaining data registries is very essential in CVD management through PHC (136). Lack of proper recording and reporting framework has also influenced monitoring of CVD programs (148). India started its first P-India Quality Improvement program (PIQIP) registry for CVD out-patient department, in 2011. Evidence shows, establishing such registries and collecting data are quite helpful in estimating burden, quality assessment of services provided to clients and its associated barriers to do so. Data were collected from OPD cards of clients which explored less use of evidenced based medicines by doctors in high risk clients. Such under reporting in documentation can result in improper planning of treatment and resources. Study mentioned feasibility of establishing such registration and collect data for quality improvement of health services in low income setting which influence service utilization (149).

#### Remarks

**Jordan:** BP was not controlled, attendance was not high but performance of staff was improved and case load was detected early & possible complications were reduced.

**India:** Although data collection was difficult due to duplication of cards in each OPD visits, the study managed this barrier by having the option to scan OPD cards and keeping records of

cards. As these examples were more specific to CVD and study was effectively done in LMICs, Nepal can try this option. Also, characteristics of people in India and scenario of high volume OPD visits can be compared with Nepal as these things are somehow similar.

#### 5.2 Evidence based best practices targeted on demand side factors

#### 5.2.1 Enabling factor

#### (Community based interventions)

#### Health promotion and screening

Intervention trials were conducted in New Delhi-India and West Java- Indonesia by increasing health promotion and screening through health education campaigns and set-up clinics (150,151). This intervention was a combine program of community groups, facilitated by academic institution and WHO. This was a large intervention carried out by engaging with stakeholders, training volunteers and teachers, conducting advocacy programs, carrying out camps for risk assessment and programs for communication. Evaluation was done based on baseline standardized- NCD risk survey. Participation of people in health facility was limited before the intervention. However, results after intervention showed 25% program -reach among population in India while 32% in Indonesia. The health system interventions helped to increase diagnosis and risk modification along with the involvement of community.

#### Remarks

But, this study highlighted the fact that community based interventions cannot be solely run by community volunteers. For sustainability, technical support is needed from a credible institute. Also, community ownership, sustained political and administrative commitment, capacity to intervene and resources are needed for services to be effective and increase utilization (151). This example from India and Indonesia is a large-scale study done by a credible institute. Study characteristics matches with Nepal. This seems feasible to be piloted in Nepal.

#### **CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION**

Literature review identified some major factors that can potentially influence utilization of PHC for CVD prevention and control in Nepal. The key findings are discussed below. Evidenced based best practices that looks feasible to Nepal in previous chapter are discussed here.

#### 6.1 Supply side factors

#### Policy

Having Multi-Sectoral Action Plan, National Health Policy, Free Health Policy, newly proposed Alcohol Policy-2017 and activities like FCTC ratification, have reflected active interest of government in NCDs currently. Having national commitment seems a good sign for CVD programs and uptake of PHC in Nepal. Ongoing PEN piloting looks like a good start. To add, WHO- "HEARTS" guideline for CVD management in PHC could possibly give further directions on program implementation of CVD in PHC.

In contrast, from the example of free health services, it can be seen that, the policy which lacks strong monitoring during its implementation may not be effective. Further, such gaps may even make the situation worse. Formal regulatory mechanism, with less complicated paper works, perhaps by using some identification to provide free services may be beneficial to the target group. Also, lack of awareness could be the reason behind low use of free health services by the targeted people.

MSAP ends in 2020 and it is already the half way. The slower implementation could be due to devastating earthquake in 2015, which diverted the focus area. Also, possibly because the action plan has multiple areas to work on with less clear focus, within limited time. Having target set for 2025, without clear focus areas and some indicators in absence of baseline, make this plan looks like an ambitious and vague document.

Example from alcohol and tobacco give a sense that enforcement of strict rule in harmful practices are more likely to succeed in Nepal. Similar approach may help in tax collection, too. Healthy diet and exercise related concerns are not getting needed attention. Possibly, the planners and even advocators are more diverted to other issues. Examples from neighboring countries China and India; on salt reduction plan could reorient them.

#### Resources

Results show critical scarcity of five key resources in PHC for CVD in Nepal. This has negatively influenced uptake.

#### Essential medicines

Reasons mentioned in findings could be the cause of unavailability of essential medicines. But this may not always be the case. At times, geographical condition of Nepal and natural disasters can bring unforeseen situation in procurement, storage & transportation, making logistics supply harder; which is very common in Nepal.

As said, there is lack of trained manpower in stock management, future estimation of stock outs can have errors and number of drugs supplied according to calculation for months may finish before time. Countries like Zimbabwe, Cameroon, Uganda, Nigeria, India faced similar challenges in drugs (145,147). India and Zimbabwe tried training of staffs but the program did not sustain. However, supervision visits and community directed interventions as discussed in previous chapter, improved stock management significantly in Zimbabwe and coverage in Nigeria, Uganda and Cameroon. But, evidences are lacking on essential NCD drugs. Whether or not; the strategies applied to general drugs, could also work for CVD drugs in Nepal; is still a mystery.

#### Basic Technologies and tools

Lack of evidence based clinical protocols already reflected poor quality of CVD services in Nepal. Study done by Mendis et al. 2012 showed a number of other countries in LMICs with similar findings. Lack of such tools could be due to low knowledge of its use among health care providers. Most often, peripheral PHC lacks physician and the services are provided by either staff nurses, auxiliary nurse midwives or health assistants in Nepal, who usually have limited knowledge. Also, very less percentage of budget was allocated for NHTC. It seems hard to train everybody with that limited budget. In practice, peripheral staffs receive less priority for trainings in such situation. Academic institution can integrate such practical skills in curriculum; as tried in Cameroon, so that, every new graduate will know how to use it (138).

#### Test and treatment procedures

Not having risk stratification in PHC is not a surprise where, there is high deficit of skilled manpower to use it. Similar explanation given above applies here too. In addition, simply strengthening rural laboratories look like a far sensible approach than thinking of sophisticated high -tech services. NRS 4000 for laboratory test, is half a month's salary to large number of Nepalese families. People cannot afford such high cost in search of laboratory services.

# Quality and quantity of human resources

Maldistribution, migration, low motivation and lack of training among human resources could be due to a number of reasons. Most of the medical colleges in Nepal are in cities. Those health workers who are already in rural settings also often migrate in cities in search of opportunities and those who are in cities travel abroad for new options. Students who grown up in cities are less likely to adjust in rural settings. For this, medical colleges can possibly offer scholarships to rural students from their local area which may motivate students to work in their own hometown after graduation. Similarly, unskilled human resources could be due to irregulated medical schools, low standard curriculum and inadequate training itself.

Looking at the present CVD burden of the country and its future prediction of increase, Nepal; a low-income country with GDP growth rate of 2.7%, people under poverty line of 25.2% and leaders with diverse political interest in the parliament; is less likely to fulfill this shortage in allocated standard ratio unless major economic changes transform the country. The similar scenarios were explored in other LMICs. Options like task shifting to non-physician clinicians (NPC) and training of available cadres in CVD management were tried. Similar evidence based best practices as attempted by China, Nigeria and Cameroon, that looks feasible to Nepal as discussed in earlier chapter can be tried.

### Financial resources

Limited budget allocated for NHTC (1.47%) and NHIEC (2.15%) could simply be due to lack of funding. It was just few years ago that the non-communicable diseases received attention from donors. Country's domestic fund alone is not sufficient for disease prevention and control activities at present.

Whereas on the other hand, prevention activities are not yet high on political mandate. Possibly, many people could be unware of importance of health promotion, screening, early detection and timely referral in CVD prevention and control. Also, Nepal is now piloting SHI scheme, for which; possibly government may be planning to establish some fund by cutting budget on other headings.

But interestingly, even that small percentage of budget freezed previous year, reflecting imprudent planning. Fiscal intervention is a way to increase domestic fund. Except tax on tobacco and alcohol products, government has not been able to implement tax on high salt containing food, subsidies for healthy food and incentives for promoting physical activity. None of the LICs have implemented subsidies and incentives. This situation offers a food for thought. Either, this is too hard to implement in resource poor settings or it is not receiving needed attention from concerned authority.

Fluctuations on tax rate almost each year and non-uniform tax on different tobacco brands has created uncertainties in fund collection and affected proper planning. The possible reasons could be: industrial resistance, unstable government, lack of financially skilled manpower and transparency. However, available budget can still be used efficiently with proper planning and prioritization (133).

#### Organization

Lack of active/operational NCD department in Nepal has negatively influenced planning and program management. Study shows gap in timely supervision and monitoring of CVD programs from steering committee. Periodic surveillance of risk factors, maintenance of vital registration, data registries & research are likely the areas that need attention. It might as well be true that, Nepal lacks skilled manpower to conduct supervision and fund for such activities may not be adequate.

#### **External environment**

Natural disasters, poor road networks, donor dependency, poor accountability and untimely local elections are found as negative influencers in study. The solution to these problems lie with multi-sectors. Hence, inter-sectoral partnership may improve the situation.

# 6.2 Demand side factors *Predisposing factors*

Study found no any significant link between marital status, sex of the client and use of CVD services in PHC. Possibly, more vigorous search with different keywords may help to find evidences. But, some other factors are likely having some link between uptake of PHC and CVD. Only important ones are discussed.

Having someone with CVD in family seems influencing to other members in family due to perceived fear of getting diseases by own-self.

Likewise, older and younger people's different perception towards PHC for CVD could be due to previous unpleasant experiences. Probably, long waiting time, harsh communication of staff, inaccessible facilities may be some reasons behind perceived low quality among older people. Similarly, there may be lack of youth friendly services which could have hampered service utilization by youths. This seems logical as counselling adolescents and youths for CVD risk factors like smoking and drinking is a sensitive issue and such services should be youth friendly, easy to access and comfortable to them.

Similarly, factors like good socio-economic status, higher education, presence of community participation, and good social networks are found influencing positively in uptake. Good economic condition increases people's ability to pay for services, education helps people to take right decision, community participation increases trust for services and a good social network can help people in need; financially and technically. It also enforces people to visit PHC during appointments.

Whereas, gender roles, culture and stigma are found as negative influencers. Existence of gender disparities, unscientific cultures and stigma may be due to lack of knowledge and awareness among people. Such things are less commonly practiced in educated families.

High health literacy increases people's knowledge about disease process, service availability, risk factors and can eventually make people aware of the situation. Such people are more likely to follow instructions, advices and adhere to treatment.

Attitude towards services and providers could be both negative and positive. Negative attitude specially; could discourage uptake. People may develop negative attitude towards services and providers due to bad experiences in the past. It could also be that, someone may be repeatedly informing about the services in a negative way, so that people do not want to use that service. Due to scarce resources and work load, staffs may not as well respond politely to clients.

#### **Enabling** factors

Access to health facility, community engagement in planning CVD programs, good communication between client and health care provider, proper feedback mechanism, perceived good quality of CVD services, appropriate opening hours of PHC may positively influence uptake. These elements increase ability to access services.

#### Need factors

Due to different perceived need among curative and preventive services, CVD programs targeted separately to these two types of services seem to be successful. Evaluated need looks influencing to curative services only. Evaluated need in preventive services looks like an abstract concept and thus; study faced difficulties in conceptualizing it due to lack of literatures on it.

#### 6.3 Limitations of literatures

The scarcity of literatures related to CVD in PHC in Nepal may be because, it is a relatively new concept. Similar screening and health promotion activities were already there from time being but not with such specific focus to CVD. There were articles related to maternal and neonatal health like antenatal visits, institutional delivery, safe motherhood, post-natal care and mental health in PHC. However, articles particular to CVD were few. On that account, this study tried to extrapolate from articles that talks about use of health services in general, health promotion, some risk factors like: hypertension, alcohol users, smokers and from some chronic diseases in general with clear indication in areas where these articles were used to generate findings. Therefore, as the scope of this paper was to bring out the evidences from Nepal, gray literatures were also used.

Intervention studies were limited for evidence based practices to increase uptake of PHC for CVD. There were very few literatures on old and young people and their different reasons of using PHC for CVD. Rural and urban differences on use of PHC for CVD were not much studied. These scarcities have consequences on this paper. So, examples from risk factors of CVD like: alcohol rehabilitation services, evidence based practice from general essential medicines have been extrapolated to present potentially similar ideas on CVD in PHC.

#### 6.4 Reflection on conceptual framework

The applied framework was useful in examining major factors influencing uptake of PHC for CVD services in Nepal. The last arrow that originates from health behavior and goes back to population characteristics, makes this framework useful to study uptake. This was because, many literatures have explained that, previous experiences on use of CVD services in PHC may determine people's willingness to utilize it again. However, it would have been better if one additional arrow joins the total box of population characteristics from environmental factors. This would mean that, the environmental factors alone can also influence the overall need and use of CVD services in PHC by people.

# CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

#### 7.1 Conclusion

Nepal has made some significant progress in terms of national commitment in the prevention and control of CVD. It has initiated free health policy, enforced laws on alcohol/tobacco and the piloting of social health insurance and PEN.

However, the lack of CVD guideline and operational NCD department, lack of essential drugs, scarcity of human resources, freezing of program budget, lack of monitoring, improper data registries, lack of research, low health literacy, lack of access to CVD services and low quality of services influence utilization of PHC for CVD services.

Strengthening PHC system and increasing community engagement are essential to improve utilization of PHC service for CVD prevention. The adaptation and implementation of successful interventions from LMICs such as task shifting, training to unskilled health workers, monitoring and maintaining data registries, community based interventions, health promotion, screening and on-site care could improve utilization of PHC service for CVD prevention. Also, Nepal could use its own successful example from maternal and child health, TB, immunization to the utilization of PHC for CVD programs.

#### 7.2 Recommendation

The following recommendations are proposed based on the study to MOH and other important stakeholders:

# **Policy**

- Review of existing multi-sectoral action plan in terms of target set, time frame, indicators, action areas and incorporate priorities for vulnerable groups like adolescents, youths and senior citizens.
- Establish a separate operational NCD department and make an evidence based CVD guideline.
- Prevent freezing of budget by planning and timely implementing proposed program activities each year.
- Establish a system to monitor and maintain CVD related data registries.
- Prioritize NCD related research activities in Nepal which includes CVD.

#### **Practice**

- Conduct community based interventions like health promotion, risk assessment, screening and out-reach.
- Shifting some of the feasible non-invasive task to community health volunteers and local leaders can be done.
- Phase-wise training can be given to health workers to address shortage of skilled human resources in CVD program management.
- New evidence based interventions should be actively studied, piloted and if feasible, implemented for CVD management e.g. PEN Package and WHO HEART protocol.

#### Partnership and collaboration

Ensure active collaboration at national and international level such as: with other ministries, research institutions, advisory committees, NGOs/INGOs, civil societies, youth clubs,

#### **Future Research Examples**

- 1. Capacity assessment of both public and private PHC for CVD management in Nepal-Primary Research
- 2. Factors influencing uptake of PHC for CVD services in Nepal-Primary Research (comparison: rural/urban, young/old people, CVD clients -mapping)
- 3. Intervention studies to generate evidences in Nepalese context (e.g. task shifting for CVD, Monetary and non-monetary incentives for health workers in health promotion for NCDs etc.)

#### **APPENDICES**

#### References

- 1. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. ASSESSING NATIONAL CAPACITY FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES: REPORT OF THE 2015 GLOBAL SURVEY. 2015.
- 2. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES AND THEIR RISK FACTORS. WHO. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION; 2016.
- 3. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. HEARTS: TECHNICAL PACKAGE FOR CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE MANAGEMENT IN PRIMARY HEALTH CARE. 2016;76.
- 4. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES PROGRESS MONITOR 2015. 2015;232.
- 5. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). NON COMMUNICABLE DISEASES COUNTRY PROFILES. GENÈVE WHO PRESS 2014. 2014;1–210.
- 6. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES D. ANNUAL REPORT, 2015/2016. VOL. 40. 2016.
- 7. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO) N. MULTISECTORAL ACTION PLAN FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NON COMMUNICABLE DISEASES (2014-2020) GOVERNMENT OF NEPAL. 2014.
- 8. DOBRIANSKY PJ, SUZMAN RM, HODES RJ. WHY POPULATION AGING MATTERS A GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE. US DEP STATE. 2007;1–32.
- 9. OLI N, VAIDYA A, THAPA G. BEHAVIOURAL RISK FACTORS OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES AMONG NEPALESE URBAN POOR: A DESCRIPTIVE STUDY FROM A SLUM AREA OF KATHMANDU. EPIDEMIOL RES INT. 2013 NOV 4;2013:1–13.
- 10. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES P, CONFERENCE R. REVITALIZING PRIMARY HEALTH CARE. HEAL (SAN FR. 2008;(AUGUST):6–8.
- 11. BEARD TC, REDMOND S. DECLARATION OF ALMA-ATA. VOL. 313, THE LANCET. 1979. P. 217–8.
- 12. STIGLER F, MACINKO J, PETTIGREW LM, KUMAR R, VAN WEEL C. NO UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE WITHOUT PRIMARY HEALTH CARE. VOL. 387, THE LANCET. OPEN UNIVERSITY PRESS; 2016. P. 1811.
- 13. DHITAL SM, KARKI A. DEALING WITH THE BURDEN OF HYPERTENSION IN NEPAL : CURRENT STATUS , CHALLENGES AND HEALTH SYSTEM ISSUES. REG HEAL FORUM. 2013;17(1):44–52.
- 14. VAIDYA A, KRETTEK A. IS HEALTH PROMOTION THE STARTING POINT OF PRIMARY CARDIOVASCULAR CARE IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES LIKE NEPAL? HEAL PROMOT PR. 2012 MAY 23;13(3):412–5.
- 15. GURUNG G, DERRETT S, HILL PC, GAULD R. GOVERNANCE CHALLENGES IN THE NEPALESE PRIMARY HEALTH CARE SYSTEM: TIME TO FOCUS ON GREATER COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT? INT J HEALTH PLANN MANAGE. 2016 APR;31(2):167–74.
- 16. BEAGLEHOLE R, EPPING-JORDAN J, PATEL V, CHOPRA M, EBRAHIM S, KIDD M, ET AL. IMPROVING THE PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT OF CHRONIC DISEASE IN LOW-INCOME AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES: A PRIORITY FOR PRIMARY HEALTH CARE. VOL. 372, THE LANCET. 2008. P. 940– 9.
- 17. CHHETRI N, CHAUDHARY P, TIWARI PR, YADAW RB. INSTITUTIONAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION: UNDERSTANDING AGRICULTURAL ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE IN NEPAL. APPL GEOGR. 2012 APR;33(1):142–50.
- 18. WORLD BANK. WORLD DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS DATABANK. WORLD DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS. 2015.
- 19. ERA KATHMANDU N. NEPAL DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY 2011 POPULATION DIVISION MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND POPULATION GOVERNMENT OF NEPAL KATHMANDU, NEPAL NEW ERA MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND POPULATION. 2012;

- 20. BANK W. NCD'S POLICY BRIEF-NEPAL, NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES- NEPAL'S NEXT MAJOR HEALTH CHALLENGE. THE WORLD BANK, SOUTH ASIA. 2011. P. 1–4.
- 21. CBS. STATISTICAL YEAR BOOK NEPAL-2015. 2016. 516 P.
- 22. WORLD DATA ATLAS. NEPAL HEALTH EXPENDITURE OUT OF POCKET EXPENDITURE (% OF THE), 1995-2014 KNOEMA.COM. 2014.
- 23. UPRETY S, LAMICHHANE B. HEALTH BUDGETING AND FINANCING IN NEPAL: POLICY PERSPECTIVES. 2016;
- 24. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES D. ANNUAL REPORT 2013/2014. 2014.
- 25. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES D. ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015. VOL. 71. 2015.
- 26. MINISTRY OF HEALTH N. NATIONAL FEMALE COMMUNITY HEALTH VOLUNTEER PROGRAM STRATEGY UNOFFI CIAL TRANSLATION MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND POPULATION DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES FAMILY HEALTH DIVISION. 2067.
- 27. KOJU R. ASSOCIATION OF CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTORS AND CORONARY ARTERY LESION AMONG CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE PATIENTS. KATHMANDU UNIV MED J. 2014;1246(462):137–40.
- 28. BHANDARI GP, ANGDEMBE MR, DHIMAL M, NEUPANE S, BHUSAL C. STATE OF NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN NEPAL. BMC PUBLIC HEALTH. 2014 DEC 10;14(1):23.
- 29. TRS B. PREDICTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE IN SUBURBAN POPULATION OF 3 MUNICIPALITIES IN NEPAL. NEPAL HEAR J. 2011;8(1):3–7.
- 30. VAIDYA A. NEED FOR COMMUNITY-BASED PRIMARY PREVENTION OF CORONARY HEART DISEASE IN NEPAL. KATHMANDU UNIV MED J. 2008 APR 13;6(24):435–6.
- 31. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. GLOBAL ACTION PLAN FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES. WORLD HEALTH. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION; 2013.
- 32. BROUWER ED, WATKINS D, OLSON Z, GOETT J, NUGENT R, LEVIN C. PROVIDER COSTS FOR PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR AND RELATED CONDITIONS IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW. BMC PUBLIC HEALTH. 2015 NOV 26;15(1):1183.
- 33. DAIVADANAM M. PATHWAYS TO CATASTROPHIC HEALTH EXPENDITURE FOR ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROME IN KERALA: "GOOD HEALTH AT LOW COST"? BMC PUBLIC HEALTH. 2012;12(1):306.
- 34. SHARMA J. CHRONIC DISEASE MANAGEMENT IN THE SOUTH-EAST ASIA REGION: A NEED TO DO MORE. WHO SOUTH-EAST ASIA J PUBLIC HEAL. 2013;2(2):79–82.
- 35. VAN WEEL C, KASSAI R, QIDWAI W, KUMAR R, BALA K, PRASAD GUPTA P, ET AL. PRIMARY HEALTHCARE POLICY IMPLEMENTATION IN SOUTH ASIA. BMJ GLOB HEAL. 2016 AUG 6;1(2).
- 36. DU M. PERMITTING MORAL IMPERIALISM? THE PUBLIC MORALS EXCEPTION TO FREE TRADE AT THE BAR OF THE WORLD TRADE ORGANIZATION. J WORLD TRADE. 2016;50(4):675–704.
- 37. WHO SA REGION. NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN THE SOUTH-EAST ASIA REGION. 2011. 104 P.
- 38. ANDERSEN RM, HEALTH J, BEHAVIOR S, MAR N. REVISITING THE BEHAVIORAL MODEL AND ACCESS TO MEDICAL CARE : DOES IT MATTER ? REVISITING THE BEHAVIORAL MODEL AND ACCESS TO MEDICAL CARE : DOES IT MATTER ? SOURCE J HEAL SOC BEHAV. 1995;36(1):1–10.
- 39. WALLEY J, LAWN JE, TINKER A, DE FRANCISCO A, CHOPRA M, RUDAN I, ET AL. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE: MAKING ALMA-ATA A REALITY. LANCET. 2008 SEP 13;372(9642):1001–7.
- 40. GURUNG G, DERRETT S, GAULD R, HILL PC. WHY SERVICE USERS DO NOT COMPLAIN OR HAVE "VOICE": A MIXED-METHODS STUDY FROM NEPAL'S RURAL PRIMARY HEALTH CARE SYSTEM. BMC HEALTH SERV RES. 2017 JAN;17(1):81.
- 41. AHMED S, CHOWDHURY MAH, KHAN MA, HUQ NL, NAHEED A. ACCESS TO PRIMARY HEALTH CARE FOR ACUTE VASCULAR EVENTS IN RURAL LOW INCOME SETTINGS: A MIXED METHODS STUDY. BMC HEALTH SERV RES. 2017 DEC 18;17(1):47.
- 42. KARKEE R, JHA N. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE DEVELOPMENT: WHERE IS NEPAL AFTER 30 YEARS OF ALMA ATA DECLARATION? VOL. 49, JOURNAL OF THE NEPAL MEDICAL ASSOCIATION. 2010. P. 178–84.

- 43. ARTICLE O. USE OF HEALTHCARE SERVICES BY PATIENTS WITH NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN NEPAL: A QUALITATIVE STUDY WITH HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS. J CLIN DIAGN RES. 2017 JUN;11(6):1–6.
- 44. NEPAL FDG OF. NATIONAL HEALTH POLICY, NEPAL. DEP HEAL. 2014;
- 45. MAHATO PK, SHARMA PAUDEL G. ACCESS TO FREE HEALTH-CARE SERVICES FOR THE POOR IN TERTIARY HOSPITALS OF WESTERN NEPAL: A DESCRIPTIVE STUDY. WHO SOUTH-EAST ASIA J PUBLIC HEAL. 2015;4(2).
- 46. THAKUR J, RAINA N, KARNA P, SINGH P, JEET G, JASWAL N. OVERVIEW OF NATIONAL STRATEGIES ON NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASE AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH IN SOUTH-EAST ASIA REGION COUNTRIES. INT J NONCOMMUNICABLE DIS. 2016;1(2):76.
- 47. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). 2014 GLOBAL PROGRESS REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WHO FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON TOBACCO CONTROL. WHO. 2014.
- 48. MOHP MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND POPULATION. BRIEF PROFILE ON TOBACCO CONTROL IN NEPAL. MINIST HEAL POPUL NEPAL. 2008;
- 49. WHO. TOBACCO TAX LEVELS AND STRUCTURE : A THEORETICAL AND EMPIRICAL OVERVIEW. WHO TECH MAN TOB TAX ADM. 2010;27–53.
- 50. WHO-SEAR. ROAD SAFETY IN THE SOUTH-EAST ASIA REGION 2015. 2015.
- 51. IOGT INTERNATIONAL. NEPAL: GOVERNMENT ADOPTED NEW ALCOHOL LAW IOGT INTERNATIONAL. INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION OF GOOD TEMPLARS. 2017.
- 52. WHO. GHO | BY CATEGORY | POLICIES, STRATEGIES AND ACTION PLANS DATA BY COUNTRY. GLOB HEAL OBS. 2015.
- 53. HEALTH MOF. NATIONAL LIST OF ESSENTIAL MEDICINES (FOURTH REVISION) GOVERNMENT OF NEPAL. 2009.
- 54. WHO. GHO | BY CATEGORY | NCD-RELATED MEDICINES RESPONSE BY COUNTRY. GLOB HEAL OBS. 2015.
- 55. K C B, HEYDON S, NORRIS P. ACCESS TO AND QUALITY USE OF NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES MEDICINES IN NEPAL. J PHARM POLICY PRACT. 2015;8(1):21.
- 56. K.C. B, POUDEL A, MOHAMED IBRAHIM MIB. HEALTH PRIORITIES OF THE NEPAL GOVERNMENT: WHERE ARE THE ESSENTIAL MEDICINES? J PHARM HEAL SERV RES. 2012 JUN 1;3(2):125–6.
- 57. MINISTRY, HEALTH, NEPAL, NEW E. NEPAL 2015 HEALTH FACILITY SURVEY (NHFS) KEY FINDINGS. 2016.
- 58. WHO. GHO | BY CATEGORY | PROCEDURES FOR NCD MANAGEMENT AT HIGHER LEVELS OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEM RESPONSE BY COUNTRY. GLOB HEAL OBS. 2015.
- 59. WHO. GHO -BY CATEGORY. SURVEILLANCE DATA BY COUNTRY. GLOBAL HEALTH OBSERVATORY. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION; 2016.
- 60. KNOBLE SJ, BHUSAL MR. ELECTRONIC DIAGNOSTIC ALGORITHMS TO ASSIST MID-LEVEL HEALTH CARE WORKERS IN NEPAL: A MIXED-METHOD EXPLORATORY STUDY. INT J MED INFORM. 2015 MAY;84(5):334–40.
- 61. WHO. GHO | BY CATEGORY | NCD-RELATED TESTS AND PROCEDURES IN PRIMARY HEALTH CARE -RESPONSE BY COUNTRY. GLOB HEAL OBS. 2016.
- 62. SHERCHAND J. HUMAN RESOURCES FOR HEALTH (HRH) AND CHALLENGES IN NEPAL. J INST MED. 2013;35:2.
- 63. MINISTRY OF HEALTH G OF N. HUMAN RESOURCES FOR HEALTH COUNTRY PROFILE NEPAL 2014. 2014.
- 64. BUDHATHOKI SS, POKHAREL PK, GOOD S, LIMBU S, BHATTACHAN M, OSBORNE RH. THE POTENTIAL OF HEALTH LITERACY TO ADDRESS THE HEALTH RELATED UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOAL 3 (SDG3) IN NEPAL: A RAPID REVIEW. BMC HEALTH SERV RES. 2017 MAR 27;17(1):237.
- 65. GLOBAL HEALTH WORKFORCE ALLIANCE. HUMAN RESOURCES FOR HEALTH STRATEGIC PLAN 2011-2015 DRAFT. 2012;(JANUARY):V-102.

- 66. BUTTERWORTH K, HAYES B, NEUPANE B. RETENTION OF GENERAL PRACTITIONERS IN RURAL NEPAL: A QUALITATIVE STUDY. AUST J RURAL HEALTH. 2008 AUG;16(4):201–6.
- 67. DHITAL R, SUBEDI M, PRASAI N, SHRESTHA K, MALLA M, UPADHYAY S. LEARNING FROM PRIMARY HEALTH CARE CENTERS IN NEPAL: REFLECTIVE WRITINGS ON EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING OF THIRD YEAR NEPALESE MEDICAL STUDENTS. BMC RES NOTES. 2015 DEC 1;8(1):741.
- 68. SHANKAR PR, THAPA TP. STUDENT PERCEPTION ABOUT WORKING IN RURAL NEPAL AFTER GRADUATION: A STUDY AMONG FIRST- AND SECOND-YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS. HUM RESOUR HEALTH. 2012 AUG;10(1):27.
- 69. ELSEY H, KHANAL S, MANANDHAR S, SAH D, BARAL SC, SIDDIQI K, ET AL. UNDERSTANDING IMPLEMENTATION AND FEASIBILITY OF TOBACCO CESSATION IN ROUTINE PRIMARY CARE IN NEPAL: A MIXED METHODS STUDY. IMPLEMENT SCI. 2015 JUL 22;11(1):104.
- 70. DEVKOTA S, DHUNGANA RR, PANDEY AR, BISTA B, PANTHI S, THAKUR KK, ET AL. BARRIERS TO TREATMENT AND CONTROL OF HYPERTENSION AMONG HYPERTENSIVE PARTICIPANTS: A COMMUNITY-BASED CROSS-SECTIONAL MIXED METHOD STUDY IN MUNICIPALITIES OF KATHMANDU, NEPAL. FRONT CARDIOVASC MED. 2016;3:26.
- 71. MARAHATTA S, SINHA N, DIXIT H, SHRESTHA I, POKHAREL P. COMPARATIVE STUDY OF COMMUNITY MEDICINE PRACTICE IN MBBS CURRICULUM OF HEALTH INSTITUTIONS OF NEPAL. KATHMANDU UNIV MED J. 2009;7(28):461–9.
- 72. NEUPANE D, MCLACHLAN CS, GAUTAM R, MISHRA SR, THORLUND M, SCHLÜTTER M, ET AL. LITERACY AND MOTIVATION FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF HYPERTENSION AMONG FEMALE COMMUNITY HEALTH VOLUNTEERS: A QUALITATIVE STUDY FROM NEPAL. GLOB HEALTH ACTION. 2015 JAN 15;8(1):28254.
- 73. KIDD MR, ANDERSON MIP, OBAZEE EM, PRASAD PN, PETTIGREW LM. THE NEED FOR GLOBAL PRIMARY CARE DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS. VOL. 386, THE LANCET. 2015. P. 737.
- 74. DOHS. ANNUAL REPORT. 2015.
- 75. SPAAN E, MATHIJSSEN J, TROMP N, MCBAIN F, HAVE A TEN, BALTUSSEN R. THE IMPACT OF HEALTH INSURANCE IN AFRICA AND ASIA: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW. BULL .... 2012;90(JANUARY):1–16.
- 76. WHO. WHO | DR GUNA RAJ LOHANI. WHO. 2016;
- 77. WHO. GHO | BY CATEGORY | INFRASTRUCTURE DATA BY COUNTRY. GLOB HEAL OBS. 2015.
- 78. RUDRA PRASAD GAUTAM. VITAL REGISTRATION SYSTEM IN NEPAL: AN OVERVIEW | GAUTAM | ECONOMIC JOURNAL OF NEPAL. 2012.
- 79. WHO. PACKAGE OF ESSENTIAL NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASE INTERVENTIONS FOR PRIMARY HEALTH CARE IN LOW-RESOURCE SETTINGS. GENEVA WOLD HEAL ORGAN. 2010;66.
- 80. SHRESHTA NR, BASNET S, BHANDARI R, ACHARIA P, KARKI P, PILGRIM T, ET AL. PRESENTATION AND OUTCOME OF PATIENTS WITH ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES IN EASTERN NEPAL. SWISS MED WKLY. 2011 APR;141(APRIL):W13174.
- 81. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES P. PHCRD DIRECTIVES. 2017.
- 82. HEES S VAN, CORNIELJE H, WAGLE P, VELDMAN E. DISABILITY INCLUSION IN PRIMARY HEALTH CARE IN NEPAL: AN EXPLORATIVE STUDY OF PERCEIVED BARRIERS TO ACCESS GOVERNMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES. DISABIL CBR INCL DEV. 2014 MAR 3;25(4):99–118.
- 83. MISHRA SR, KALLESTRUP P, NEUPANE D. COUNTRY IN FOCUS: CONFRONTING THE CHALLENGE OF NCDS IN NEPAL. VOL. 4, THE LANCET DIABETES AND ENDOCRINOLOGY. 2016. P. 979–80.
- 84. THE WORLD BANK. GLOBAL ECONOMIC PROSPECTS. 2016.
- 85. DHAKAL R, RATANAWIJITRASIN S, SRITHAMRONGSAWAT S. ADDRESSING THE CHALLENGES TO HEALTH SECTOR DECENTRALIZATION IN NEPAL: AN INQUIRY INTO THE POLICY AND IMPLEMENTATION PROCESSES. NEPAL MED COLL J. 2009 SEP;11(3):152–7.
- 86. REGMI K, NAIDOO J, PILKINGTON PA, GREER A. DECENTRALIZATION AND DISTRICT HEALTH SERVICES IN NEPAL: UNDERSTANDING THE VIEWS OF SERVICE USERS AND SERVICE PROVIDERS. J PUBLIC HEALTH (BANGKOK). 2010 SEP;32(3):406–17.
- 87. OLI N, VAIDYA A, SUBEDI M, KRETTEK A. EXPERIENCES AND PERCEPTIONS ABOUT CAUSE AND PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AMONG PEOPLE WITH CARDIOMETABOLIC

CONDITIONS: FINDINGS OF IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS FROM A PERI-URBAN NEPALESE COMMUNITY. GLOB HEALTH ACTION. 2014;7(1):24023.

- 88. NHRC NEPAL HEALTH RESEARCH COUNCIL. NON COMMUNICABLE DISEASES RISK FACTORS: STEPS SURVEY NEPAL 2013. GOVERMENT NEPAL MINIST HEAL POPUL NEPAL HEAL RES COUNC. 2013;1–141.
- 89. VAIDYA A. TACKLING CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH AND DISEASE IN NEPAL: EPIDEMIOLOGY, STRATEGIES AND IMPLEMENTATION. HEART ASIA. 2011;3(1):87–92.
- 90. ADHIKARI D, RIJAL DP. FACTORS AFFECTING HEALTH SEEKING BEHAVIOR OF SENIOR CITIZENS OF DHARAN. HEAL SEEK BEHAV. 2010;3(1):50–7.
- 91. SAITO E, GILMOUR S, RAHMAN MM, GAUTAM GS, SHRESTHA PK, SHIBUYA K. CATASTROPHIC HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURE ON HEALTH IN NEPAL: A CROSS-SECTIONAL SURVEY. BULL WORLD HEALTH ORGAN. 2014;92(10):760–7.
- 92. MISHRA SR, KANDEL N, SUBEDI N, KHANAL V. VARIATION IN PRICES OF CARDIOVASCULAR DRUGS IN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE PHARMACIES IN NEPAL. HEAL SERV RES MANAG EPIDEMIOL. 2015;2(0).
- 93. KHATRI RB. CLIENT AGGRESSION TOWARDS HEALTH SERVICE PROVIDERS IN NEPAL. HEAL PROSPECT. 2015;(5):3–4.
- 94. BHATTARAI S, PARAJULI SB, RAYAMAJHI RB, PAUDEL IS. HEALTH SEEKING BEHAVIOR AND UTILIZATION OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES IN THE VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES OF ILAM DISTRICT OF NEPAL. J CHITWAN MED COLL. 2015;11(2):8–16.
- 95. NEUPANE SP, BRAMNESS JG. WHO SEEKS TREATMENT FOR ALCOHOL PROBLEMS? DEMOGRAPHY AND ALCOHOL-USE CHARACTERISTICS OF PATIENTS IN TABOO AND NON-TABOO DRINKING GROUPS ATTENDING PROFESSIONAL ALCOHOL SERVICES IN NEPAL. ASIAN J PSYCHIATR. 2014 DEC;12(1):82–7.
- 96. KELLY S, MARTIN S, KUHN I, COWAN A, BRAYNE C, LAFORTUNE L. BARRIERS AND FACILITATORS TO THE UPTAKE AND MAINTENANCE OF HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS BY PEOPLE AT MID-LIFE: A RAPID SYSTEMATIC REVIEW. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(1).
- 97. PIERCE JP, WHITE VM, EMERY SL. WHAT PUBLIC HEALTH STRATEGIES ARE NEEDED TO REDUCE SMOKING INITIATION? TOB CONTROL. 2012;21(2):258–64.
- 98. MISHRA R, CHAURASIA N, DE A. UTILIZATION OF SAFE MOTHERHOOD SERVICES IN JHORAHAT PHC AREA OF MORANG DISTRICT, NEPAL. AM J HEAL RES. 2015 OCT 28;3(5):123–9.
- 99. DHUNGANA RR, PANDEY AR, BISTA B, JOSHI S, DEVKOTA S. PREVALENCE AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS OF HYPERTENSION: A COMMUNITY-BASED CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY IN MUNICIPALITIES OF KATHMANDU, NEPAL. INT J HYPERTENS. 2016;2016:1–10.
- 100. YOON PW, SCHEUNER MT, JORGENSEN C, KHOURY MJ. DEVELOPING FAMILY HEALTHWARE, A FAMILY HISTORY SCREENING TOOL TO PREVENT COMMON CHRONIC DISEASES. PREV CHRONIC DIS. 2009 JAN;6(1):A33.
- 101. POUDEL K, SUMI N. HEALTH BEHAVIOR REGARDING CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES AMONG NEPALI ADULTS. J COMMUNITY HEALTH. 2017 MAY;1–7.
- 102. DHUNGANA R, S D, KHANAL MK, GURUNG Y, GIRI RK, R M PARAJULI, ET AL. PREVALENCE OF CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH RISK BEHAVIORS IN A REMOTE RURAL COMMUNITY OF SINDHULI DISTRICT, NEPAL. BMC CARDIOVASC DISORD. 2014;14(1):92.
- 103. HAVER J, BRIEGER W, ZOUNGRANA J, ANSARI N, KAGOMA JHPIEGO J, JHPIEGO U, ET AL. EXPERIENCES ENGAGING COMMUNITY HEALTH WORKERS TO PROVIDE MATERNAL AND NEWBORN HEALTH SERVICES: IMPLEMENTATION OF FOUR PROGRAMS. 2015.
- 104. ATUN R, JAFFAR S, NISHTAR S, KNAUL FM, BARRETO ML, NYIRENDA M, ET AL. IMPROVING RESPONSIVENESS OF HEALTH SYSTEMS TO NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES. VOL. 381, LANCET. HARVARD GLOBAL EQUITY INITIATIVE AND HARVARD UNIVERSITY PRESS, CAMBRIDGE; 2013. P. 690–7.
- 105. PAUDEL SB, UPRETI BR, ACHARYA G, TANDUKAR A, HARVEY P. HEALTH SERVICES AND USERS ' PERCEPTIONS OF THE STATE IN ROLPA, NEPAL. 2015.
- 106. BISTA A, JOSHI S. LIVED EXPERIENCES AND HEALTH PROBLEMS OF ELDERLY RESIDING IN LALITPUR METROPOLITAN CITY, NEPAL. INT J HEAL SCI RES. 2016;2736(2).

- 107. YANG Y, BEKEMEIER B, CHOI J. A CULTURAL AND CONTEXTUAL ANALYSIS OF HEALTH CONCEPTS AND NEEDS OF WOMEN IN A RURAL DISTRICT OF NEPAL. GLOB HEALTH PROMOT. 2016 JUN 14.
- 108. KOKAB F. UNDERSTANDING HEALTH BELIEFS AND LIFESTYLE PRACTICES IN RELATION TO SOCIAL SUPPORT IN THE PAKISTANI COMMUNITY, WEST MIDLANDS, UK. 2016;(APRIL 2016).
- 109. BORHANINEJAD V, SHATI M, BHALLA D, IRANPOUR A, FADAYEVATAN R. A POPULATION-BASED SURVEY TO DETERMINE ASSOCIATION OF PERCEIVED SOCIAL SUPPORT AND SELF-EFFICACY WITH SELF-CARE AMONG ELDERLY WITH DIABETES MELLITUS (KERMAN CITY, IRAN). INT J AGING HUM DEV. 2017.
- 110. PAUDEL R, UPADHYAYA T, PAHARI DP. PEOPLE'S PERSPECTIVE ON ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE SERVICES IN A RURAL DISTRICT OF NEPAL. JNMA J NEPAL MED ASSOC. 2012;52(185):20–4.
- 111. LAMICHHANE P, HARKEN T, PURI M, DARNEY PD, BLUM M, HARPER CC, ET AL. SEX-SELECTIVE ABORTION IN NEPAL: A QUALITATIVE STUDY OF HEALTH WORKERS' PERSPECTIVES. WOMEN'S HEAL ISSUES. 2011 MAY;21(3):S37–41.
- 112. KOJU R, MANANDHAR K, RISAL A, STEINER TJ, HOLEN A, LINDE M. UNDERTREATED HYPERTENSION AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH IN NEPAL: NATIONWIDE POPULATION-BASED SURVEY. KATHMANDU UNIV MED J. 2015;13(49):3–7.
- 113. SANJEL S, MUDBHARI N RISAL A KK. THE UTILIZATION OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES AND THEIR DETERMINANTS AMONG THE ELDERLY POPULATION OF DHULIKHEL MUNICIPALITY. 2012.
- 114. SHRESTHA S. BARRIERS AND FACILITATORS TO TREATMENT AMONG NEWLY DIAGNOSED HYPERTENSIVE PATIENTS IN NEPAL : A QUALITATIVE STUDY. 2016.
- 115. VAIDYA A, SHAKYA S, KRETTEK A. OBESITY PREVALENCE IN NEPAL: PUBLIC HEALTH CHALLENGES IN A LOW-INCOME NATION DURING AN ALARMING WORLDWIDE TREND. INT J ENVIRON RES PUBLIC HEALTH. 2010 JUN;7(6):2726–44.
- 116. MORENO-PERAL P, CONEJO-CERÓN S, FERNÁNDEZ A, BERENGUERA A, MARTÍNEZ-ANDRÉS M, PONS-VIGUÉS M, ET AL. PRIMARY CARE PATIENTS' PERSPECTIVES OF BARRIERS AND ENABLERS OF PRIMARY PREVENTION AND HEALTH PROMOTION-A META-ETHNOGRAPHIC SYNTHESIS. HARPER DM, EDITOR. PLOS ONE. 2015 MAY 4;10(5).
- 117. KRITIKA POUDEL NS. HEALTH BEHAVIOR REGARDING CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES AMONG NEPALI ADULTS. 2017.
- 118. AKEROYD JM, CHAN WJ, KAMAL AK, PALANIAPPAN L, VIRANI SS. ADHERENCE TO CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICATIONS IN THE SOUTH ASIAN POPULATION: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF CURRENT EVIDENCE AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS. VOL. 7, WORLD JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY. 2015. P. 938–47.
- 119. NEUPANE D, MCLACHLAN CS, CHRISTENSEN B, KARKI A, PERRY HB, KALLESTRUP P. COMMUNITY-BASED INTERVENTION FOR BLOOD PRESSURE REDUCTION IN NEPAL (COBIN TRIAL): STUDY PROTOCOL FOR A CLUSTER-RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL. TRIALS. 2016 JUN 18;17(1):1–7.
- 120. BHATTARAI S, PARAJULI SB, RAYAMAJHI RB, PAUDEL IS, JHA N. HEALTH SEEKING BEHAVIOR AND UTILIZATION OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES IN EASTERN HILLY REGION OF NEPAL. J COLL MED SCI. 2015 NOV;11(2):8.
- 121. SHRESTHA, P. KOIRALA P. AND TAS. KNOWLEDGE , PRACTICE AND USE OF PESTICIDES AMONG COMMERCIAL VEGETABLE GROWERS OF DHADING DISTRICT , NEPAL. J AGRIC ENVIRON. 2010 SEP 16;11(0):95–100.
- 122. SIDDIQUI MW, DHUA RS. EATING ARTIFICIALLY RIPENED FRUITS IS HARMFUL. CURR SCI. 2010;99(12):1664–8.
- 123. NATIONS F AND AO OF THE U. WHY IS ORGANIC FOOD MORE EXPENSIVE THAN CONVENTIONAL FOOD? FAO. 2015;1–2.
- 124. NEUPANE D. JUNK FOOD AND FOOD INSECURITY IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES. HEAL ALL. 2015 JAN 13;2(1):6–8.
- 125. YADAV D. UTILIZATION PATTERN OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES AT VILLAGE LEVEL. J NEPAL HEALTH RES COUNC. 2010 APR;8(1):10–4.
- 126. SHRESTHA R, JHA SC, KHANAL M, GYAWALI P, YADAV BK, JHA B. ASSOCIATION OF CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTORS IN HYPERTENSIVE SUBJECTS WITH METABOLIC SYNDROME

DEFINED BY THREE DIFFERENT DEFINITIONS. JNMA J NEPAL MED ASSOC. 2011;51(184):157-63.

- 127. GUPTA BS, SHRESTHA S, THULUNG BK. PATIENT'S PERCEPTION TOWARDS QUALITY NURSING CARE. J NEPAL HEALTH RES COUNC. 2014;12(27):83–7.
- 128. VAIDYA A, ARYAL UR, KRETTEK A. CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDE AND PRACTICE/BEHAVIOUR IN AN URBANISING COMMUNITY OF NEPAL: A POPULATION-BASED CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY FROM JHAUKHEL-DUWAKOT HEALTH DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEILLANCE SITE. BMJ OPEN. 2013 OCT 14;3(10):E002976.
- 129. BABU RB, ALAM M, HELIS E, FODOR JG. POPULATION-BASED VERSUS HIGH-RISK STRATEGIES FOR THE PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES. INDIAN HEART J. 2012;64(5):439–43.
- 130. CALLAGHAN M, FORD N, SCHNEIDER H. REVIEW A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF TASK-SHIFTING FOR HIV TREATMENT AND CARE IN AFRICA. HUM RESOUR HEALTH. 2010;8:8–16.
- 131. NEWELL JN, BARAL SC, PANDE SB, BAM DS, MALLA P. FAMILY-MEMBER DOTS AND COMMUNITY DOTS FOR TUBERCULOSIS CONTROL IN NEPAL: CLUSTER-RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL. LANCET. 2006;367(9514):903–9.
- 132. DELLER B, TRIPATHI V, STENDER S, OTOLORIN E, JOHNSON P, CARR C. TASK SHIFTING IN MATERNAL AND NEWBORN HEALTH CARE: KEY COMPONENTS FROM POLICY TO IMPLEMENTATION. INT J GYNECOL OBSTET. 2015;130:S25–31.
- 133. MENDIS S, AL BASHIR I, DISSANAYAKE L, VARGHESE C, FADHIL I, MARHE E, ET AL. GAPS IN CAPACITY IN PRIMARY CARE IN LOW-RESOURCE SETTINGS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF ESSENTIAL NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASE INTERVENTIONS. INT J HYPERTENS. 2012;2012:584041.
- 134. ABRAHAMS-GESSEL S, DENMAN CA, MONTANO CM, GAZIANO TA, LEVITT N, RIVERA-ANDRADE A, ET AL. THE TRAINING AND FIELDWORK EXPERIENCES OF COMMUNITY HEALTH WORKERS CONDUCTING POPULATION-BASED, NONINVASIVE SCREENING FOR CVD IN LMIC. GLOB HEART. 2015;10(1):45–54.
- 135. OGEDEGBE G, GYAMFI J, PLANGE-RHULE J, SURKIS A, ROSENTHAL DM, AIRHIHENBUWA C, ET AL. TASK SHIFTING INTERVENTIONS FOR CARDIOVASCULAR RISK REDUCTION IN LOW-INCOME AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIALS. BMJ OPEN. 2014;4(10):E005983.
- 136. BOVET P, CHIOLERO A, PACCAUD F, BANATVALA N. SCREENING FOR CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK AND SUBSEQUENT MANAGEMENT IN LOW AND MIDDLE INCOME COUNTRIES: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES. VOL. 36, PUBLIC HEALTH REVIEWS. 2015.
- 137. SEIDMAN G, ATUN R. DOES TASK SHIFTING YIELD COST SAVINGS AND IMPROVE EFFICIENCY FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS? A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF EVIDENCE FROM LOW-INCOME AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES. HUM RESOUR HEALTH. 2017;15(1):29.
- 138. KANE J, LANDES M, CARROLL C, NOLEN A, SODHI S. A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF PRIMARY CARE MODELS FOR NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASE INTERVENTIONS IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA. BMC FAM PRACT. 2017;18:46.
- 139. MAMO Y, SEID E, ADAMS S, GARDINER A, PARRY E. A PRIMARY HEALTH CARE APPROACH TO THE MANAGEMENT OF CHRONIC DISEASES IN ETHIOPIA: AN EXAMPLE FOR OTHER COUNTRIES. CLIN MED. 2007;7(3):228–31.
- 140. MENDIS S, JOHNSTON SC, FAN W, OLADAPO O, CAMERON A, FARAMAWI MF. CARDIOVASCULAR RISK MANAGEMENT AND ITS IMPACT ON HYPERTENSION CONTROL IN PRIMARY CARE IN LOW-RESOURCE SETTINGS: A CLUSTER-RANDOMIZED TRIAL. BULL WORLD HEALTH ORGAN. 2010;88(6):412–9.
- 141. LABHARDT ND, BALO J-R, NDAM M, GRIMM J-J, MANGA E. TASK SHIFTING TO NON-PHYSICIAN CLINICIANS FOR INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF HYPERTENSION AND DIABETES IN RURAL CAMEROON: A PROGRAMME ASSESSMENT AT TWO YEARS. BMC HEALTH SERV RES. 2010;10:339.
- 142. KENGNE AP, SOBNGWI E, FEZEU L, AWAH PK, DONGMO S, MBANYA J-C, ET AL. SETTING-UP NURSE-LED PILOT CLINICS FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES AT PRIMARY HEALTH CARE LEVEL IN RESOURCE-LIMITED SETTINGS OF AFRICA. PAN AFR MED J. 2009 MAR 8;3(1):10.
- 143. CAMPBELL EM, SITTIG DF, GUAPPONE KP, DYKSTRA RH, ASH JS. OVERDEPENDENCE ON TECHNOLOGY: AN UNINTENDED ADVERSE CONSEQUENCE OF COMPUTERIZED PROVIDER ORDER

ENTRY. AMIA ANNU SYMP PROC. 2007;2007:94-8.

- 144. A CLUSTER-RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL OF A SIMPLIFIED HIGH CARDIOVASCULAR RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM IN RURAL TIBET, CHINA. VOL. 9, GLOBAL HEART. 2014. P. E46–7.
- 145. NUNAN M, DUKE T. EFFECTIVENESS OF PHARMACY INTERVENTIONS IN IMPROVING AVAILABILITY OF ESSENTIAL MEDICINES AT THE PRIMARY HEALTHCARE LEVEL. VOL. 16, TROPICAL MEDICINE AND INTERNATIONAL HEALTH. BLACKWELL PUBLISHING LTD; 2011. P. 647– 58.
- 146. KISINZA WN, KISOKA WJ, MUTALEMWA PP, NJAU J, TENU F, NKYA T, ET AL. COMMUNITY DIRECTED INTERVENTIONS FOR MALARIA, TUBERCULOSIS AND VITAMIN A IN ONCHOCERCIASIS ENDEMIC DISTRICTS OF TANZANIA. TANZAN J HEALTH RES. 2008 OCT;10(4):232–9.
- 147. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. COMMUNITY-DIRECTED INTERVENTIONS FOR MAJOR HEALTH PROBLEMS IN AFRICA. SPEC PROGRAM RES TRAIN TROP DIS. 2008;1–132.
- 148. MULLINS J. COHORT REPORTING IMPROVES HYPERTENSION CARE FOR REFUGEES. VOL. 380, THE LANCET. 2012. P. 552.
- 149. KALRA A, POKHAREL Y, HIRA RS, RISCH S, VICERA V, LI Q, ET AL. CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE PERFORMANCE MEASURES IN THE OUTPATIENT SETTING IN INDIA: INSIGHTS FROM THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF CARDIOLOGY'S PINNACLE INDIA QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (PIQIP). J AM HEART ASSOC. 2015 MAY;4(5).
- 150. VAN DE VIJVER S, OTI S, ADDO J, DE GRAFT-AIKINS A, AGYEMANG C. REVIEW OF COMMUNITY-BASED INTERVENTIONS FOR PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES. ETHN HEAL. 2012;17(6):651–76.
- 151. KRISHNAN A, EKOWATI R, BARIDALYNE N, KUSUMAWARDANI N, SUHARDI, KAPOOR SK, ET AL. EVALUATION OF COMMUNITY-BASED INTERVENTIONS FOR NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES: EXPERIENCES FROM INDIA AND INDONESIA. HEALTH PROMOT INT. 2011 SEP 1;26(3):276–89.

Miscellaneous

# Figure no. 6: Original Conceptual Framework of Anderson, 1995

# The Andersen Model of Health Care Utilization



RM Andersen. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? *J Health Social Behavior* 1995;36:1-10.

# Table no. 6: The search terms and websites used in searching literatures for the study

PubMed Search strategy:										
Keywords were either used in pairs or in multiple combinations of words from different subject box with the help of AND/OR/*										
For objectives one and two, following keywords were used:										
Subject 1	Subject 2	Subject 3			Subject 4	Subject 5				
Determinan ts/ Factors	Enabling/ Influencing / Contributin g/ Barriers/ Associated/ Use/ Utilization/ Uptake/ Access	Primary health car Primary health car District Hospital [1 Health post/ Home care service Community health Community based Referral/ Ambulatory care	e [MeSH]/ e [Ti/Ab]/ MeSH]/ s [MeSH]/ center [Mea care/	SH]/	Non- communicab le diseases [Title]/ Cardiovascu lar disease (CVD) [Ti/Ab]/ Heart disease/ Heart attacks/ Stroke/ Hypertensio n/ Prevention / Health Promotion/ Counselling/ Primary prevention/C ontrol Chronic disease	Nepal [MeSH]				
For objective	three, followin	ng keywords were us	sed:							
Subject 6	Subject 7	Subject 8	Subject 9	Subject 10	Subject 11	Subject 12				

				1		
Evidenced-	Successful/	Increase/	Uptake/	Words	Words form	Nepal/Sou
Based	Best /	Accelerate/Enha	Utilizati	from	subject 4	th Asia/
	Proven	nce	on	subject 3		LMIC/
			/Use	-		LIC/
	Practices/					Low and
	Interventio					middle-
	ns/					income
	Strategies					countries/
	_					Low
						income
						countries/
						Asia/Asia
						n
						countries/
						South-
						East Asia/
						Sub-
						Saharan-
						Africa/
						Developin
						g
						countries/
						Low-
						resource
						settings/
						SEAR

For e.g. Search ((((((((primary health care) OR cardiovascular disease) OR nepal) OR south east asia) OR south asia) OR low-income country) OR SEAR) OR prevention) AND service utilization Filters: Free full text; published in the last 10 years, ((((((primary health care[Title/Abstract]) OR nepal[MeSH Terms]) OR utilization[Title/Abstract]) OR cardiovascular disease[Title/Abstract]) AND (free full text[sb] AND "last 10 years" [PDat])), (((("primary health care") AND ((determinants OR factors OR aspects))) AND ((barriers OR related OR influencing OR conributing OR associated))) AND ((use OR utilization OR uptake))) AND access, ((((((Evidenced[All Fields] AND -Based[All Fields]) OR (successful[All Fields] OR best[All Fields] OR Proven[All Fields])) OR (Practices[All Fields] OR Strategies[All Fields] OR Interventions[All Fields])) OR (Increase[All Fields] OR Accelerate[All Fields] OR Enhance[All Fields])) OR ("utilization"[Subheading] OR "utilization"[All Fields]) OR ("utilization"[Subheading] OR "utilization"[All Fields])) OR ("utilization"[MeSH Terms]) OR Chronic non communicable diseases[Title]) OR LMICs[All Field], ((primary health care"[MeSH Terms]) OR Chronic non communicable diseases[Title]) AND Nepal.

Other search engine's literature search strategy:

Literatures were also searched by using "advanced search" options from each of these locations by using above words: VU library, Google Scholar, Google (manual search specially for gray literatures).

Grey Literatures Search Strategy

Sources: World Health Organization United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization Ministry of Health and Population, Nepal National Planning Commission, Nepal World Bank Department of Health Services

Some policy documents were obtained from personal contact with: Focal person for NCD from Ministry of Health and Population and National Planning Commission, Nepal

#### Table no. 7: Evidence based best practices in LMICs /HICs/summary table:

Table no. 7: Evidence based best practices summary table								
Problem Areas/The mes	Type of Practi	Auth or	Locat ion	Focus	Study Design	Interve ntion	Outcom e	Limitat ions
RESOURC	ces FS							
Essential medicines and basic technologi es & tools	Comm unity directe d Incenti ves (CDIs)	(WH O 2008)	Came roon, Ugan da, Niger ia	Genera 1	Multi- country commu nity interven tion	Participa tory commun ity meeting, decision making, supply of drugs, accounta bility, monitori ng, report, oversee, feedback	Increase d coverag e and treatmen t	Done on countrie s with well- develop ed health system, may not be feasible to all LMICs
	Superv ision visits for drugs	(Nun an et al 2011)	Zimb abwe		RCT	Supervis ion visit on use of guidelin e and stock manage ment	Stock manage ment supervis ion improve d significa ntly	No change in drug availabi lity but stock book manage ment was improv ed
Human Res	ource							
Productio n & Training	Trainin g	(Ken gne A 2009)	Came roon	NCDs	Qualitat ive and quantita tive	46 nurses/ 6 training courses/ Nurses led projects	Improve d access to care (increas ed by 68.5%)	Treatm ent outcom e was not measur ed

Retention & maldistrib ution	Task- shiftin g	(Men dis S et al 2010) / Oged egbe G et al. 2014	China & Niger ia	HTN	Clustere d Rando mized Trial/ System atic Review of RCTs	Simple CVD risk manage ment package assessm ent	Decreas e in systolic BP (p<0.00 01)	Some biasnes s present in interven tion and control side.		
	Use of technol ogy in task shiftin g	Tian M 2014)	India	CVD	Clustere d RCT	Low cost CVD manage ment trial	Increase d treatmen t with diuretics and aspirin	No drop in BP		
Examples fr	om High	Income	countrie	?S						
Monetary In Phone remin After hour so Multiple Scr	Monetary Incentives, PHC/Australia, (Stocks 2012) Phone reminder, PHC/UK, (Fairhurst K 2008) After hour service/GP/PHC/Australia (Comino EJ 2007) Multiple Screening/PHC/Canada (Grunfeld 2013)									
ORGANIZ	ATION									
Managem ent/ Document ation/ Oversee	Monito ring/	(Kha der et al. 2014)	Palest ine refug ees in UN PHC /Jorda n	HTN	Retrosp ective Cohort Study	Measure d number, characte ristics, program outcome & disease control	Many refugees were registere d /treated /perform ance of staffs was also evaluate d/case load detected / complic ations controlle d	BP was not much controll ed / attenda nce was just satisfact ory		

	Mainta ining data registri es	(Kalr a et al. 2015)	India	CVD	PINNA CLE Registr y Under PIQIP	Collecti on of OPD data from Patient's OPD card	Measure d prevalen ce of CVD risk factors and CVD cases	Linking data was difficult due to lack of unique identifi cation in subsequ ent visits
Enablers								
Access/Aw areness themes	Health promot ion and on-site care	(Kris hnan et al. 2011) With suppo rt of WHO	Balla bgarh / New- Delhi /India and Depo k/We st Java/I ndone sia	CVD	Interven tion Study (Format ive and outcom e evaluati on) / Large sample size	Advocac y/ Training / Commu nity Campaig ns/ Risk assessm ent /Camps/ Reorient ation of health services	Reach of health program 25-32% (Increase ed Access, increase d diagnosi s, better manage ment	Used IEC and Health camps but limited use of mass media - compro mised the messag e reach /thinkin g it as a resourc e intensiv e and not

				feasible before
				national
				campai
				gn